
Rutland County Council                  
Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP
Telephone 01572 722577 Facsimile 01572 758307 DX28340 Oakham

      

Meeting: PEOPLE (CHILDREN) SCRUTINY PANEL

Date and Time: Thursday, 23 February 2017 at 7.00 pm

Venue: COUNCIL CHAMBER, CATMOSE, OAKHAM, 
RUTLAND, LE15 6HP

Clerk to the Panel: Jane Narey 01572 758311
email: corporatesupport@rutland.gov.uk

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, 
take photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that 
is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is available at 
www.rutland.gov.uk/haveyoursay

A G E N D A

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

1) RECORD OF MEETING 
i. To confirm the record of the meeting of the People (Children) Scrutiny 

Panel held on 17 November 2016 (previously circulated).

ii. To confirm the record of the meeting of the Joint People (Children and 
People (Adults and Health) Scrutiny Panel held on 18 January 2017 
(previously circulated)

2) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
In accordance with the Regulations, Members are invited to declare any personal 
or prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of those interests in respect 
of items on this Agenda and/or indicate if Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

3) PETITIONS, DEPUTATIONS AND QUESTIONS 
To receive any petitions, deputations and questions received from Members of 
the Public in accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rule 217.

The total time allowed for this item shall be 30 minutes.  Petitions, declarations 
and questions shall be dealt with in the order in which they are received.  

mailto:corporatesupport@rutland.gov.uk
http://www.rutland.gov.uk/haveyoursay


Questions may also be submitted at short notice by giving a written copy to the 
Committee Administrator 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.

The total time allowed for questions at short notice is 15 minutes out of the total 
time of 30 minutes.  Any petitions, deputations and questions that have been 
submitted with prior formal notice will take precedence over questions submitted 
at short notice.  Any questions that are not considered within the time limit shall 
receive a written response after the meeting and be the subject of a report to the 
next meeting.

4) QUESTIONS WITH NOTICE FROM MEMBERS 
To consider any questions with notice from Members received in accordance with 
the provisions of Procedure Rules No 219 and No. 219A.

5) NOTICES OF MOTION FROM MEMBERS 
To consider any Notices of Motion from Members submitted in accordance with 
the provisions of Procedure Rule No 220.

6) CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE PANEL 
FOR A DECISION IN RELATION TO CALL IN OF A DECISION 
To consider any matter referred to the Panel for a decision in relation to call in of 
a decision in accordance with Procedure Rule 206.

SCRUTINY 
Scrutiny provides the appropriate mechanism and forum for members to ask 
any questions which relate to this Scrutiny Panel’s remit and items on this 
Agenda.

7) QUARTER 3 FINANCE REPORT 10 min
To receive Report No. 37/2017 from the Director for Resources

(circulated under separate cover)

8) QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT 10 min
To receive Report No. 36/2017 from the Chief Executive

(circulated under separate cover)

9) LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN'S BOARD: BUSINESS PLAN 10 min
To receive Report No. 49/2017 from Paul Burnett, Chair of the Leicestershire and 



Rutland Safeguarding Children and Adults Boards
(Pages 5 - 8)

10) ADOPTION SERVICE: ANNUAL REPORT 10 min
To receive Report No. 51/2017 from Rebecca Wilshire, Head of Safeguarding and 
Service Improvement
(Pages 9 - 28)

11) SCRUTINY PROJECT: POVERTY IN RUTLAND 60 min
To receive Report No. 53/2017 from the Director for People
(Pages 29 - 102)

12) PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS AND TOPICS 5 min

a) REVIEW OF FORWARD PLAN 2015/16 
To consider Scrutiny issues to review.  

Copies of the Forward Plan will be available at the meeting.

13) ANY OTHER URGENT  BUSINESS 5 min
To receive any other items of urgent business which have been previously 
notified to the person presiding

14) DATE AND PREVIEW OF NEXT MEETING 5 min
Thursday 4 May 2017 at 7 pm

Agenda Items:

1. OfSTED Inspection Report and Action Plan
To receive a report from Dr Tim O’Neill, Director for People and Deputy Chief 
Executive

2. Rutland Adult Learning and Skills Service (RALS) Performance Report
To receive a report from Gill Curtis, Head of Learning and Skills

3. Rutland Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) Annual 
Report
To receive a report from Miss G Waller, Chair of Rutland SACRE

4. Poverty in Rutland: White Paper

---oOo---



TO: ELECTED MEMBERS OF THE PEOPLE (CHILDREN) SCRUTINY PANEL

Mr J Dale (Chairman)
Mr E Baines Mr N Begy
Mr O Bird Mr K Bool
Mr G Conde Mrs D MacDuff
Mr M Oxley Mrs L Stephenson
Miss G Waller

TO: CO-OPTED MEMBERS OF THE PEOPLE (CHILDREN) SCRUTINY PANEL

Mrs L Youngman
Ms S Gullan-Whur Mr A Menzies

TO: YOUTH REPRESENTATIVES OF THE PEOPLE (CHILDREN) SCRUTINY 
PANEL

Miss K Gordon



Report No: 49/2017
PUBLIC REPORT

PEOPLE (CHILDREN) SCRUTINY PANEL
23 February 2017

DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITIES 2017/18 OF THE 
LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING 

CHILDRENS BOARD (LRLSCB)
Report of the Independent Chair of the LRLSCB

Strategic Aim: This contributes to the corporate objective of ‘Creating a brighter future 
for all’.

Exempt Information No. 

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Councillor Richard Foster, Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Young People (Safeguarding)

Contact 
Officer(s):

Paul Burnett, Independent Chair of 
the LRLSCB

Tel: 0116 305 7130
sbbo@leics.gov.uk

Dr Tim O’Neill, Director for People Tel: 01572 758307
toneill@rutland.gov.uk 

Ward Councillors All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Panel:

1. Notes the Draft Business Plan Priorities and makes any comments, proposed additions 
or amendments to the priorities that will be addressed prior to the final version of the 
Business Plan being agreed.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To present the Draft Business Plan Priorities of the Leicestershire and Rutland 
Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) for 2017/18 for consideration and 
comment by the Scrutiny Panel.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS

2.1 The LRLSCB is a statutory body established as a result of Section 13 of the 
Children Act 2004 and currently operates under statutory guidance issued in 

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS
mailto:sbbo@leics.gov.uk
mailto:toneill@rutland.gov.uk


Working Together 2015. There is no statutory requirement to report the annual 
Business Plan to Scrutiny panels but it has been considered best practice in the 
past so to do.

2.2 The Annual Report of the LRLSCB was considered by this Scrutiny Panel in 
October 2016 and emerging priorities for the new Business Plan for 2017/18 were 
discussed at that meeting.

2.3 As in 2016/17 the LSCB is formulating an individual Business Plan supplemented 
by a plan that addresses priorities it will share with the Leicestershire and Rutland 
Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB). This is intended to secure a balance 
between achieving a strong focus on safeguarding children and recognising that 
some safeguarding matters require approaches that cut across adults and 
children’s services and focus on whole family issues. 

2.4 The future improvement priorities identified in the Annual Report 2015/16 have 
been built into the Business Plan priorities for 2017/18. In addition to issues arising 
from the Annual Report the new Business Plans’ priorities have been identified 
against a range of national and local drivers including:

 national safeguarding policy initiatives and drivers;
 recommendations from regulatory inspections across partner agencies;
 the outcomes of Serious Case Reviews (SCRs), Domestic Homicide 

Reviews (DHRs) and other review processes both national and local;
 evaluation of the Business Plans for 2016/17 including analysis of impact 

afforded by our Quality Assurance and Performance Management 
Framework;

 best practice reports issued at both national and local levels;
 the views expressed by both service users and frontline staff through the 

Boards’ engagement and participation arrangements.

2.5 The new Business Plan has been informed by discussions that have taken place in 
a number of forums since the autumn of 2016. These include:

 the annual Safeguarding Summit of chief officers from partner agencies 
held on 23 November 2016;

 meetings of the Scrutiny Panels in both Leicestershire and Rutland at 
which both the Annual Report 2015/16 and future priorities for action 
have been debated;

 meetings of the Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Well-Being 
Boards at which both the Annual Report 2015/16 and future priorities for 
action have been debated;

 discussions within individual agencies.

2.6 The proposed strategic priorities were formulated through the annual Development 
Session of the two Safeguarding Boards held on 2 December 2016.

2.7 The Board is considering making a differentiation between Development priorities 
and Assurance priorities.  Assurance priorities are solely identified as priorities for 
seeking assurance regarding safeguarding practice, risk or impact, rather than 
carrying out any specific development work. Development priorities are ones that 
require specific development work led by the Board, these may also include some 



element of assurance.

2.8 The proposed Business Plan Priorities for 2017-18 considered at the LRLSCB 
meeting on 27th January 2017 are outlined in the tables below.  

LRLSCB Development Priorities

Development Priority Summary

1. CSE, Trafficking & 
Missing (Missing 
and online safety) 

Developing assurance regarding missing children 
process and intervention and developing online 
safety responses.

2. Children with 
Disabilities

Assessing organisational responses and 
safeguarding risk understanding with regard to 
these children and their families.

3. Signs of Safety Further embedding this across the partnership, 
particularly schools.

LRLSCB & LRSAB Joint Development Priorities

Development Priority Summary

1. The ‘Toxic Trio’ Assessing and developing approaches to 
safeguarding adults and children where domestic 
abuse, substance misuse and mental health 
issues are present.

2. Participation and 
Engagement 

Establishing visible effective participation by 
children and vulnerable adults at Board level.

3. Emotional Health 
& Wellbeing 

Develop understanding of emotional health and 
well-being across the partnership and gain 
assurance regarding BCT and STP that work is 
addressing safeguarding issues, particularly re: 
mental health

4. Multi-Agency risk 
management / 
Supervision

Develop a multi-agency supervision approach for 
risk management in safeguarding adults and 
children.

2.9 Against each of these priorities the Board is in the process of identifying key 
outcomes for improvement and the actions that will need to be taken over the next 
year to achieve these improved outcomes.

2.10 The following are the identified assurance priorities arising from current priorities 
and the considerations from the development day.  Seeking assurance on these 
would be built into the work of the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) and 
the LSCB and SAB Multi-Agency Audit Groups as appropriate.



Assurance Priorities
LSCB 1. Early Help (step up and step down)

2. Sports and other independent settings (test re: historic 
abuse disclosures)

3. Thresholds
4. Supervision 
5. Initial Health Assessments for Looked After Children 

(IHAs)
6. Young People’s Mental Health

Joint LSCB 
and SAB

1. Domestic Abuse

2.11 The Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework for the Board 
will be revised to ensure that it reflects the new Business Plan and enables 
ongoing monitoring of performance of core business that is not covered in the 
Business Plan.

2.12 The views of a range of forums are being sought on the Business Plans. This 
includes the Cabinets, Children and Adults and Scrutiny Committees and the 
Health and Well-Being Boards in both local authority areas.

2.13 The Board office are arranging for consultation on the priorities with young people 
and adult service users through existing forums.

2.14 Feedback from this panel and these forums will support the development of the 
action plans for these priorities.  The final Business Plan will be signed off at the 
meeting of the LRSAB and LRLSCB on 31 March 2017.

3 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The Draft Business Plan Priorities for 2017/18 for the Leicestershire & Rutland 
Local Safeguarding Children Board have been drawn up based upon information 
from a number of sources and will direct the work of the Partnership in improving 
Safeguarding of Children in Leicestershire and Rutland.  The report is presented 
so that the Panel may comment and propose changes, amendments or additions 
that will be reported to the LRLSCB for consideration when they consider the final 
plan at their meeting on 31 March 2017.

4 BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

5 APPENDICES

5.1 There are no appendices.

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 



Report No: 51/2017
PUBLIC REPORT

SCRUTINY PANEL
23 February 2017

ADOPTION: ANNUAL REPORT
Report of the Director for People

Strategic Aim: Safeguarding

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr R Foster, Portfolio Holder for  Children and Young 
People (Safeguarding)

Contact Officer(s): Rebecca Wilshire, Head of Children's 
Safeguarding

01572 758258
rwilshire@rutland.gov.ukl

Tim O'Neill, Director for People and 
Deputy Chief Executive

01572 758402
toneill@rutland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Panel:

1. Notes the content of the report.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report relates to the Council strategic objective two: Protecting Vulnerable 
Communities 

1.2 Under statutory guidance applying to adoption agencies, the adoption agency 
(Leicestershire County Council) is required to produce an annual report setting out 
its activity (Appendix 1).  (The Care Standards Act 2000, Adoption and Children 
Act 2002 and associated regulations, as well as Adoption statutory guidance from 
the Department for Education and the Adoption National Minimum Standards have 
been considered).

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS

2.1 Adoption services (i.e. the recruitment and assessment of adopters, their training, 
approval, and finding families for children needing adoptive homes) is provided on 
Rutland's behalf by Leicestershire County Council.  Appendix 1 of this report 
contains the Leicestershire and Rutland adoption agency annual report completed 
by Andrew Logie, Service Manager from Leicestershire County Council in April 
2016.

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2.2 Rutland County Council retains responsibility for all children in our care for whom 
we are corporate parents and for whom the plan is adoption. Social workers from 
Rutland County Council work closely with the adoption agency (Leicestershire 
County Council) staff to identify and match Rutland's children with appropriate 
adopters.

2.3 The report covers all activity of the agency as it relates to adopters for 
Leicestershire County Council children and Rutland County Council children.

2.4 The key points to note for Rutland from this report are:

2.5 6 children were adopted from care in 2015/16.

2.6 The adoption agency approved 39 adopters, within the six month period required 
by guidance. All adopters are white British.

2.7 Rutland's adoption performance in terms of how long it takes a child to be adopted 
from the point of coming into the care of the Council to the point at which a final 
adoption order is made, has improved markedly over the last two years as 
illustrated by the following table:

Year Average time (in days) between child 
entering care and moving to its adoptive 
family, for children who have been adopted 

2010/2011 1073.00
2011/2012 655.50
2012/2013 No children
2013/2014 807.00
2014/2015 375.83
2015/2016 304.50

England 
Average
593 Days

2.8 Despite the improvements in recent years, further work is still required to improve 
the permanency planning process and to track and ensure permanency plans are 
formulated and progressed urgently so no time is lost in finding our children 
forever families.

2.9 The quality of child permanence reports considered by Rutland's agency decision 
maker (Head of Service, Children’s Social Care) has shown signs of improvement 
during the last 12 months, and will continue to be an area for ongoing 
improvement.

2.10 As of April 2016, the adoption agency had 21 adopter households waiting, 15 of 
which they planned to match to children requiring a forever family in 2016/17, and 
the rest will be advertised for inter-agency adoption. 

2.11 Currently, as of September 2016, there are six children in the care of Rutland 
County Council and subject to Placement orders have been placed for adoption 
and adoption applications have been issued or are to be issued (depending on the 
circumstances).

2.12 The adoption annual report author will be asked in future reports to further 
breakdown figures relating to Rutland, as this will ensure we are clear with regards 



to timeliness and numbers for Rutland children.  

3 ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The adoption agency services provided to Rutland County Council operate under 
a Service Level Agreement (SLA). The cost of this service is around £60,000 per 
annum. In the last year, therefore, each adoptive placement has cost the local 
authority under £7,000 per child. This represents value for money, as the cost of 
assessing and providing an adoptive placement can cost an adoption agency 
between £22,000 and £35,000 per child. Interagency placements, placements 
where a child cannot be provided with an adoptive carer through the local adoption 
agency, currently cost £27,000 per child when purchased. Rutland's children have 
been provided with an adoptive placement in 2015/16 via the local Leicestershire 
adoption agency.

4 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 The current SLA requires reviewing and the local authority needs to consider 
whether there is sufficient post adoption support provided to children and carers by 
Rutland County Council to meet its statutory obligations and to put processes in 
place to try and ensure that adoptive families are able to provide stable forever 
families for children which are as secure as possible in order to prevent adoptive 
placements breaking down.

5 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

5.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

6 APPENDICES

6.1 Appendix 1 – Leicestershire and Rutland Adoption Agency: Annual Quality 
Assurance and Performance Report 1st April 2015 - 31st March 2016.

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 



Appendix 1.

Leicestershire and Rutland Adoption Agency

Annual Quality Assurance and Performance Report

1st April 2015 – 31st March 2016

Introduction

Leicestershire County Council is responsible for a Local Authority Adoption Agency.  It 

undertakes statutory and regulated responsibilities relating to adoption and has a Service 

Level Agreement (SLA) with Rutland County Council. 

This report is therefore issued by the Leicestershire & Rutland Adoption Agency.

Under the 2011 National Minimum Standards 25.6 all Adoption Agencies are required to 

provide one six month and one annual report to the Executive1 regarding the activity and 

work of the Adoption Agency and Adoption Panel. 

This report is the annual version to 31st March 2016, and covers the period from 1st April 

2015 to the 31st March 2016.

1 The Executive in Leicestershire is the Lead Member and Scrutiny Members



Executive Summary:

 52 adoption orders were finalised for children in this period.  44 Leicestershire 

children; 8 Rutland children.  

 39 adopters were approved in this period.  All are white British.  

 66 children have been placed with their prospective adopters during this period.

 41 children were adopted by Leicestershire County Council approved adopters, 11 

via the inter-agency process.

 6 sibling groups placed – 3 sets of twins, three sets of triplets.

 At the 31st March 2016 there were 18 children awaiting an adoption placement.



Background – Year to 31st March 2016
Adoption Plans

1. Nineteen adoption panels were held during this period.

2. In this period 51 children were presented to the Agency Decision Maker for an 

adoption plan. 

3. 39 adopters were approved in this period.  All are white British.  

4. Of the 51 children considered by the Agency Decision Maker, 90% met the National 

Minimum Standard timescale of coming to panel within two months of adoption 

being agreed as the plan. Those out with the timescale are due to deferment for 

technical reasons acceptable under the regulations. The requirements of the 

Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports Regulations 2005 were fully 

met.

Chart 1 – Ages of children at point of approval for adoption

27
9

7

5
2 1 000 0 to 1yrs

1 to 2yrs
2 to 3yrs
3 to 4yrs
4 to 5yrs
5 to 6yrs
6 to 7yrs
7 to 8yrs
8 to 9yrs
9+ yrs

Age range of Children agreed for Adoption 
2015/16



Chart 2 – 7 year comparison of children with plan for adoption

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14 

2014/15

2015/16
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Children with a Plan for 
Adoption

Children with a Plan for Adoption

Performance

Children Placed and Adopted

1. 66 children have been placed with their prospective adopters during this period; (60 

LCC & 6 Rutland Children). 4 were an inter-agency adoption. 

2. 52 adoption orders were finalised for children in this period.  44 Leicestershire 

children; 8 Rutland children.  This is an 8.3% increase year on year.

3. 41 children were adopted by Leicestershire County Council approved adopters, 11 

via the inter-agency process.

4. 6 sibling groups placed – 3 sets of twins, three sets of triplets.



Chart 3 – 7 year comparison of children adopted

Adoption Approvals 

1. During this period 39 adopter households were approved, all completed within the 

six month timescale.  

2. This is in spite of a freeze on recruiting new adopters initiated in April 2015.  All of 

the 39 adopters approved had already entered the approvals process by this date, 

or were specifically recruited for a specific child.  This evidences our ethical 

recruitment of adopter policy.

The freeze on recruiting adopters is reviewed quarterly. The next review is July 

2016.

3. 39 sets of adopters approved in this period are White/British. 

4. As of 1st April 2016, we have 21 adopter households waiting.  15 of these adopters 

we plan to match to children requiring a forever family in 16/17, the remaining 6 will 

be advertised nationally for inter-agency adoption.



Chart 4 – 7 year comparison of adopters approved

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Number of Adopters 
Approved

Number of Adopters Approved

5. The requirements of the Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports 

Regulations 2005 were fully met for all assessments.

Adoption Scorecard

1. Leicestershire’s adoption scorecard results for the three year period to 31st March 

2015 are:

 Indicator 1: The length of time a child spends in care before being placed with 

his/her adopters is 546 days.

 This is an improvement of 37 days on the 2014 scorecard figure.

o Our in year figure to 31st March 2016 is 442 days.

 Indicator 2: The length of time between court granting a placement order and the 

Agency Decision Maker agreeing a placement match is 209 days.

 This is an improvement of 4 days on the 2014 scorecard figure.

o Our in year figure to 31st March 2016 is 168 days.

2. The all England average for Indicator 1 is 593 days. 

3. The all England average for Indicator 2 is 223 days.



4. Notwithstanding the DfE target for indicator 2 being 121 days this adoption agency 

remains in the top quartile for performance (England and Wales). The DfE target for 

Indicator 2 was missed by 88 days.

5. One of the risks of the 121 day target is that it creates a disincentive to local 

authorities embarking on ‘ambitious’ adoption plans such as a recent success with a 

sibling group of three boys.  In practice, we will seek to manage such plans closely 

to ensure children do not miss out on forever families because of L&RCC’s 

requirement to meet governmental targets.  This work will be done in localities and 

the Adoption Team.

Quality of Reports

1. 46 child permanence reports were considered by the Agency Decision Maker during 

this period. The quality of the reports was variable as advised by the Agency 

Decision Maker. Training for all childcare social workers to improve the quality of the 

reports is available including a team manager’s quality assurance tool. A 

recognisable improvement is being made. 

2. 39 Prospective Adopters Reports were presented to the Adoption Panel during this 

period. Panel felt they were all good and raised only minor issues.  

Children Waiting for Adoption 

1. At the 31st March 2016 there were 18 children awaiting an adoption placement. 

2. Family finding is being actively pursued with placements being sought via the 

National Adoption Register, the local East Midlands Adoption Consortium and 

specialist advertising including SEN magazines and children featured in advertising 

journals (be My Parent) etc. Children have also attended the adoption activity days 

and the national exchange days. 

3. We are also revisiting the list of 90 or so would be adopters who have contacted the 

agency since we closed recruitment in April 2015.



4. In this period we successfully matched 8 children referred by Rutland County 

Council.

5. 5 children were placed under Foster for Adoption protocols. Twins in one case, and 

triplets in another.

Chart 5 below clearly shows that our aim to reduce children waiting well below the 

level of those matched is bearing fruit.  This is due to our conscientious adopter 

recruitment policy which has at its core the aim to recruit specific families for specific 

children.

Chart 5 – Number of children matched vs. those waiting.

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Number of 
Children 
Matched

Number of Children 
Matched
Number of Children Waiting

Adoption Disruptions 

There have been 2 adoption disruptions during this period.  In each case, the children 

returned to the care of the local authority.

Post Adoption Support 

1. Pre and post adoption support is provided in a number of ways within LCC.  The 

adoption social worker offers support up to three years post adoption order, 

especially in cases where adoption breakdown or disruption is a threat.



2. After this 3 year period, locality led support is available to families at risk of adoption 

breakdown – this includes active intervention; signposting to support networks and 

providers; respite; and, accommodation of the child or children in the most extreme 

cases.

3. The Adoption Support Fund, a centralised granting process administered by the 

DfE, which seeks to pay for therapeutic interventions in order to prevent adoption 

breakdown, went live on the 1st May 2015.  

4. To 31st March 2016, LCC has drawn down over £400,000 of Adoption Support Fund 

to pay for direct interventions with adoptees and their families in Leicestershire.

5. Some of the most complex cases may be co-worked by the Locality Team with 

support from the Post Adoption Support Worker.  In such cases an assessment will 

be conducted and an application may be made for appropriate therapeutic services 

through the Adoption Support Fund.  

6. Birth Parents are routinely offered support prior to the adoption of their children.  

Post Adoption Support still requires further work. This will be enhanced with the 

addition of two new workers in spring 2016.

7. Birth Records Counselling was assessed as good in the last Ofsted Inspection. 

8. Intermediary services where adopted children are supported to find and meet their 

birth parents are not carried out in house in Leicestershire.  Some initial advice may 

be given but as with other LA’s we signpost adoptees who request this service to 

third sector agencies.  

9. The Post Adoption Support Team liaises with education. We offer training to schools 

particularly around attachment issues for adopted children and how to successfully 

manage these in the school setting. 

10. The demand for Post Adoption Support continues to grow in all areas.  Under the 

new 2016 offer the team will provide specialised training for approved adopters and 

workers as required.



Permanence Team

The current role of the team is to undertake all family finding for children who need 

permanence via the adoption route. This allows the assessing social workers to focus on 

assessing prospective adopters, placing and supporting children through to Adoption 

Order. 

This work also includes family finding for long term fostered children.

During the reported period the team have completed a number of developmental projects, 

many of which have been designed to improve practice as well as improving our corporate 

image. 

One of the Social Worker’s in the Family Finding Team is also an amateur photographer 

so she was commissioned to take high quality photos and make DVD’s of the children 

again when profiling and advertising interagency. 

Other advertising resources were produced including banners, stands, bags and pens, all 

of which helped improve our corporate image. 

Training has been designed and facilitated to a number of audiences, including locality 

teams and foster carers. The training has included Child Permanence Report (CPR) 

training to address the quality of CPR’s as well as introducing a new template. 

In addition to day to day operations, the team is very committed to ongoing developmental 

projects such as the introduction of Life Appreciation Days; processes for the permanence 

planning of children in Long Term Foster Care; and, further embedding of the Signs of 

Safety methodology in our practice.



Statement by the Agency Decision Maker, Helen Gronhaug

The ADM role has now been in place as a stand-alone post since August 2014. The time 

elapsed has given the opportunity to see how this role functions independently of case 

management hierarchy. Issues have arisen that would have been otherwise unlikely had 

the ADM role sat with a more senior manager such as Head of Service or Assistant 

Director as has previously been the case.  Certain challenges have been highlighted in 

terms of accountability and governance of the ADM decision making. This has been 

particularly apparent where the ADM is considering children’s care plans for adoption. 

 Adoption Guidance 2013 requires the Local Authority to urgently hold an urgent care 

planning meeting if an adoption plan has not been agreed by the ADM. An ADM can 

require further work and clarification in order to make such a decision. However there have 

been occasions where this work has not been completed as requested. 

An ADM Action Plan has been developed & updated to promote clarity about the status 

that work required by the ADM when such decisions are being given. 

The independent position of the ADM allows for a valuable opportunity to gain an over 

view of children’s care planning and outcomes through oversight of adoption and fostering 

panels; children’s adoption  plans as well as foster carer reviews. This allows for the 

identification of practice and policy themes. Work is underway to ensure such themes are 

harvested and fed into the Continuous Improvement Action Plan so that the learning loop 

is completed. Thematic learning will be drawn from the 4 gateways of ADM decision 

making – children’s adoption plans; adoption and fostering panels as well as foster carer 

reviews. A system to escalate and track individual children’s cases is being developed 

where ADM highlights practice/ process issues. The ADM quality assurance function is 

being further strengthened by greater collaboration with the Safeguarding and 

Improvement Unit, particularly the IRO challenge meeting with AD. ADM membership on 

the newly formed permanence panel will further develop the ADM’s QA function.



East Midlands Adoption Consortium (EMAC) 

The Adoption Agency of Leicestershire and Rutland continues to be a member of EMAC.  

Central government is keen to see the success of such arrangements and so we have 

made a commitment to this group of 9 LA’s and 3 Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA) 

since coming into post last August.

This is working well and will consider the Government’s ‘Regionalisation of Adoption’ 

proposals in coming months.

Developments 

The modernisation of the adoption team has been very successful. In line with the 

changes to adoption assessment the two stage process has been in place since July 2013 

and is proving successful. 

We recognise that adoption has been a central part of government policy in recent years 

and that the future will present many opportunities and some challenges.

Frameworki

This area of work is behind schedule.

The modernisation process work continues to bring the work of the adoption service on to 

the electronic record system. Assessment processes are now up and running with the plan 

for family finding to go live in August 2016. These processes are currently in User 

Acceptance Stage. Once family finding processes go live, the Adoption Service will be up 

and running on Frameworki from point of initial enquiry, through assessment, matching 

processes, post placement support and finally the granting of the Adoption Order.

Statement of Purpose 

The Statement of purpose was reviewed and uploaded to the public facing LCC 

Website in January 2016 and will be reviewed annually.



Rutland Arrangements

We continue to provide adoption services for Rutland County Council under a Service 

Level Agreement. The Service Level Agreement was due for review in September 2014. A 

meeting was held where it was agreed that whilst Rutland reviewed their service level 

agreement with ourselves, we would continue to provide a service in the interim.  

During the reporting period, 8 Rutland children were matched with adopters by this 

agency.

Adoption Panel

We have one panel chair and two vice chairs. 

We recruited 3 Social Work representatives and 18 Independent panel members are to the 

Central List. 

All appointees attended panel member training which was provided by the British 

Association of Adoption and Fostering (BAAF). 

This will ensure consistency in panels and improve quality assurance. 

I am also very pleased to report that our efforts to recruit a diverse panel were successful 

and we will have good representation from minority groups including BME and LGBT.

Panel member’s annual reviews will commence soon to be completed by the end of 

August 2016. 



Financial Implications 



To note:

 Budget overspend solely attributable to fees paid to LCC foster carers, adopters, 

and recipients of Special Guardianship allowance.

 We have been successful in ‘selling’ adopter households, hence the income on this 

budget line.

The Word of Mouth project financial model will permit us, in 16/17 and beyond, to 

recruit staff of a cost/benefit analysis basis directly relative to the number of net 

foster carers recruited

People Implications 

None stated

Equalities Issues/Implications 

None stated

Safeguarding Issues/Implications

Safeguarding issues and implications are implicit within the report but continue to be a 

high priority for the service.

Environmental Implications

None identified

Information Management Implications

None.

National/local Political Implications

Adoption has been a key part of the Government Agenda since 2012 and has seen 

significant change. 



The recent Education and Adoption bill proposes further changes most notably the need 

for Adoption Agencies and Local Authorities to devise regionalised plans, based on 

working together in order to improve services delivered to children and adopters. 

We will continue to attend the EMAC meetings where this matter will be discussed and 

plans prepared, thereafter reporting separately as required.

Andrew Logie
Service Manager – Fostering, Adoption and Placement Sufficiency
April 2016.





Report No: 53/2017
PUBLIC REPORT

CHILDREN’S SCRUTINY PANEL
17 November 2016

POVERTY SCRUTINY PROJECT
Report of the Director for People

Strategic Aim: All

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr R Foster, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding Children 
and Young People

Mr D Wilby, Portfolio Holder for Lifelong Learning

Contact Officer(s): Tim O’Neill, Deputy Chief Executive 
and Director for People

Tel: 01572 758402 
TONeill@rutland.gov.uk 

Gill Curtis, Head of Learning and Skills Tel: 01572 758460
GCurtis@rutland.gov.uk 

Bernadette Caffrey, Head of Families 
Support – Early Intervention

Tel: 01572 720973
BCaffrey@rutland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Panel:

1. Considers the topics and related issues/questions covered in this report;

2. Identifies any further information or work it may wish to undertake;

3. Authorises the Chair to produce a written report of findings to feed back into the overall 
project.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The Scrutiny Commission has agreed to undertake a review of Poverty in Rutland. 
The project objectives are:

To develop an agreed definition(s) of Poverty in Rutland;

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


To develop a Council policy in the form of a White Paper to be 
approved by Full Council that will outline for Rutland how the Council 
will act to positively impact on poverty within the County.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 Further to the initial workshop attended by Members on 13 September 2016, a list 
of areas was highlighted for further investigation by individual Scrutiny Panels.  
The following areas were identified for the Children’s Scrutiny Panel to consider:

Accessibility of childcare – cost, quality, availability

Indicators below the threshold – early indicators – preventions

Indicators of those just below the threshold for receiving support in relation to child 
poverty (prevention)

Important to acknowledge inter-connectivity of Poverty

Perceptions of poverty (from expert witnesses) and how easy it is to refer any 
concerns or sign-post to support

2.2 Further to a meeting with the Chair of the Children’s Scrutiny Panel, it was agreed 
that the following documents relating to Child Poverty in Rutland be re-circulated 
to members:

The Rutland Child Poverty Strategy 2014 – 2017 which sets out the priorities for 
tackling child poverty in Rutland and informs action by the partners involved;

The Rutland Child Poverty Pledges (updated April 2016) which sets out the 
organisational pledges which statutory and wider partners have made that will 
contribute to the reduction of child poverty in Rutland. 

2.3 Based on the feedback from members at the workshop and via email, the 
Children’s Scrutiny Panel will focus on the following issues:

Childcare – specifically, the introduction of the ‘30 Hour offer’ for working parents 
from September 2017 and the Integrated Review for two-year olds

Early Help for vulnerable/targeted children and young people to reduce child 
poverty

2.4 Further information will be provided by expert witnesses at the meeting.

2.5 Further to the outcome of this meeting the Chair of the Panel will report back to the 
working group to consider next steps but this will be confirmed at the meeting.

3 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 This report gives further information requested by the initial Poverty project 
workshop.

4 BACKGROUND PAPERS 



4.1 The Rutland Child Poverty Strategy 2014 – 2017

4.2 The Rutland Child Poverty Pledges (updated April 2016)

4.3 Children’s lives in Rutland: A Report by The Children’s Society. Autumn 2016.

5 APPENDICES 

5.1 Appendix A – Childcare 

5.2 Appendix B – Rutland Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016-2019: Key 
Theme 2: Fair society (Action 6).

5.3 Appendix C – Citizens Advice Rutland: A report on poverty in Rutland 2016

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 



Appendix A.  Childcare 

1. Background

Early intervention is critical in supporting families at risk of living in poverty and the Local 
Authority has developed strategies and policy to support this area. 

The introduction of the ‘30 Hour offer’ for working parents from September 2017 could 
have a very positive implication for children and families in Rutland in financial difficulty, 
encouraging more parents back into employment and taking more families out of poverty. 
Current research shows that a large proportion of family income is currently used to 
provide childcare. The 30 hour offer will make it worthwhile for parents to return to 
employment, without high childcare costs, and giving families additional, disposable, 
income.

2. Implications of the Early Years National Funding Formula and the ‘30 hour offer’ 

Although most Local Authorities in England will be able to pay their Childcare Providers 
increased rates this is not the case in Rutland.

The Impact of the Early Years National Funding Formula for Rutland:

Based on the proposed indicative budget, the implementation of the proposed National 
Funding formula will have a devastating financial impact on Rutland’s Early Years 
Providers and the support for Early Years providers from the Local Authority.

The Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) is the amount added to the basic rate (£3.56) and paid to 
the childcare provider per hour, per child for the 15 hour entitlement for childcare. 
Rutland’s ACA is lower than all other Local Authorities in the East Midlands region at 
£1.04: the ACA for other Local Authorities in the East Midlands ranges between £1.71in 
Northampton and £2.76 in Peterborough. There is also an adjustment of 15p for vulnerable 
and disadvantaged children 

Government has consulted on plans to cap the amount of the retained Dedicated School 
Grant (DSG) for Early Years (currently retain 7.9%, £104k) at 7% in 2017-18 and 5% in 
2018-19 (a potential reduction of £50k). This could substantially impacting on the advice 
and support to early year practitioners, impacting the quality of provision of these small 
private businesses.

Following the National consultation in 2015, managers of private, voluntary and 
independent settings in Rutland presented to the school forum the actual cost of delivering 
a nursery place, calculated at between £4.75-£4.80 per child per hour. 

The impact of having to reduce the hourly rate paid to early year providers from the current 
rate of £4.60 to £4.32 in (2017-18) could result in providers no longer remaining viable. 
This could compromise the stability of early year provision. Potentially, to survive, early 
year providers may choose not to be part of the funded entitlement which could mean that 
Rutland County Council faces a considerable challenge to fulfil their statutory duty of 
providing Free Early Education Entitlement (FEEE) for 3 and 4 year olds in Rutland.



3. ‘Two-Year Old Funding’

Changes in ‘Two Year old funding’ in 2014 prevented Rutland County Council from 
supporting our most vulnerable two-year olds through the ‘special circumstance’ model 
used previously. We currently identify approximately 40% of our most disadvantaged two-
year olds, who are offered Early Education for 15 hours per week for 38 weeks of the year. 
The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Two year old progress check, along with the 
Healthy Child programme review by Health, help us to identify children needing additional 
support and intervention early on and help ensure they are supported by appropriate 
services. The introduction of the ‘Integrated review’ will further support this area. However, 
this process needs to be closely monitored though the collection of additional information 
to ensure the small amount of funding has the greatest impact and targets families most in 
need. 

4. Update: February 2017

The budget has now been set for 3 and 4 year old funding as follows:

The hourly rate to providers from April 1st 2017 is £4.60, this reduces to £4.40 in 2018 and 
in 2019 to £4.25.

Amount per pupil that all Councils will get as a base rate is £3.53.

Rutland Area Cost Adjustment ACA) is £1.04. 

Three other metrics include Free School Meals 11p, Disability Living Allowance 3p and 
English as Additional Language 1p

Rutland County Council challenged the National Funding Formula (NFF) with the DfE and 
the Early Years Funding Policy. 

The response was that ‘Rutland’s Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) is low because Rutland’s 
General Labour Market (GLM) measure is 1 (the lowest value) – this is not dissimilar from 
the other East Midlands Local Authorities who all have GLM values in the range 1 - 1.01. 
The GLM measure is used widely across Government and correlates well with variations in 
early years wage costs. In turn, the GLM constitutes by the biggest element of our ACA, 
because staff costs are by the far the biggest cost driver in the early years. This is why the 
ACA is relatively low for Rutland.’ 

Are small LAs disadvantaged by the new NFF?  
We’ve looked at the correlation between LAs’ ACA scores and their number of children 
and there isn’t any - some smaller LAs have high ACAs. This was discussed in length with 
Ministers and in doing so they recognise that as the first EYNFF, they are committed to 
“keep under review the other data underpinning formula factors and area cost, such as 
business rates data which is in the process of being updated”. 

What impact will this have on Rutland?
Rutland’s proportion of central spend will have to come down slightly but the total value of 
the central spend – as a pot of money, rather than a proportion of budget – might actually 
rise because Rutland will have a larger early years Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
budget in 2017-2018 than it did in 2016-2017. That said we do recognise that there are 



certain fixed costs which all LAs will face, in terms of delivering their statutory duties, no 
matter what their size.
 
Based on the census it is anticipated that 104 children will access the additional 
entitlement of 15 hours. 

It is estimated that our smallest settings in Rutland could lose £800 over the next 2 years 
whilst our largest providers’ loss could be in the region of £7K. We continue to work 
alongside providers with an event taking place on 23rd February 2017.  The 2017 
Childcare Sufficiency Assessment will hopefully help us to establish a clear picture of 
needs across Rutland too.



Appendix B – Rutland Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016-2019: Key 
Theme 2: Fair society (Action 6).

1. Background

The Rutland Children’s Trust through a collaborative partnership approach, supports the 
development and improvement of services for children and young people 0 – 19 years, 
including to the age of 25 years for some vulnerable young people. The agreed vision and 
priorities are set out in the Children, Young People and Families Plan (CYPFP) 2016 to 
2019.

This plan is published by Rutland County Council (RCC) as the lead partner with statutory 
responsibility to promote co-operation to improve children’s wellbeing (Children Act 2004).
The plan is also endorsed by key partners within the Rutland Children’s Trust. The Plan 
sets out four key themes:

Key Theme 1: Keep children well and safe

Key Theme 2: Fair society

Key Theme 3: Listening

Key Theme 4: Efficiency

Under each key theme there are action points which set out the priority areas for 2016-17. 
Action 6 under the key theme of ‘Fair society’ sets out the priority areas in relation to 
improving economic well-being and reducing child poverty levels in Rutland. This provides 
a useful summary of some of the main ways in which Rutland and its strategic partners are 
tackling child poverty.

2. Rutland Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016-19: Key theme 2 – Fair 
society

The Rutland Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016-19 summarises what the 
Local Authority do to improve economic well-being and reduce child poverty levels in 
Rutland as follows:   

a) Implementation of the Child Poverty pledges engaging multi-agency responses to 
Child Poverty

b) Reduce the impact of the Benefit Reform and delayed introduction of the Universal 
Credit

c) Influencing commissioning of preventative provision – building capacity in the 
voluntary sector

d) Implement Phase 2 Changing Lives programme, supporting 20 families during 2016
e) Maintain the work club run by RALS
f) JCP advice sessions delivered in the Library service
g) Deliver maximising income one-to-one sessions, debt pack advice
h) Trial CAB outreach at 1 food bank during the year   
i) Implement a benefit take up campaign
j) Implement a life skills (financial management, budgeting course, etc.) for vulnerable 

young people to support transitions into independence
k) Promote 2 year old early education funded places



l) Undertake a scoping exercise in the highest 3 priority child poverty areas to ascertain 
key challenges. 

Rutland Citizens Advice Bureau is identified as the lead organisation for this Action. 

The following measurable outcomes and targets have been identified for monitoring this 
area of activity:

1. A 10% increase in the number of vulnerable/targeted peoples accessing advice and 
support

2. 15% of Changing Lives families achieving employment outcomes.
3. Deliver 3 welfare advice sessions in outreach venues
4. Increase the number of JCP session from monthly
5. 85% of eligible 2 year olds are accessing their funded places
6. Deliver 3 life-skills courses per year for vulnerable young people and care leavers
7. To reduce child poverty levels (children in low income households), currently at 7.1% 

3. Possible questions

Are the activities outlined here the best use of available resources to help improve 
economic wellbeing and reduce child poverty?

Will the measures outlined above provide a good reflection of activity undertaken and the 
impact it has? 

4.  Update February 2017

Rutland Access Partnership (RAP) was formed and successfully tendered for the 
Community Prevention and Wellness Service. The Community Wellness Service combines 
a number of previous contracts to ensure continuity for service users and reduction in 
duplication in services across Citizens Advice Rutland (CAR), community agents, 
homelessness support, and older people’s services, and also includes voluntary sector 
coordination and support and volunteer coordination.  The contract starts on the 1st April 
2017 and more information on the detail of the service will be released over the coming 
weeks, including contact details and referral routes.

A Report on Poverty in Rutland was published by CAR in 2016. See attached. The report 
highlights the issue for Rutland families who are not unemployed or on benefits but are 
working families on minimal or low wage. 

•Citizens Advice staff attended 2 Rutland County Council (RCC) children’s’ conferences 
and 2 workshops for Changing Lives staff. This has enabled closer working between RCC 
and Citizens Advice Rutland and Rutland Foodbank. CAR are delivering debt advice in 
conjunction with the Changing Lives Team

•CAR has ongoing attendance at foodbanks in Oakham and Uppingham on a monthly 
basis and 11 foodbank outreach sessions were delivered in 2016

•CAR delivered 4 outreach advice sessions in Ryhall, Whissendine, Uppingham and 
Langham.  Although the targeted benefit take up campaign resulted in no statistical 



increase in numbers in the 4 wards – overall there was an increase of 7% in clients 
accessing support/advice in the last 2 quarters compared to last year.

•There was an increase of 10.5% in the numbers of problems. In Q2 this year CAR dealt 
with the following problems:

*Tax credits x 197
*Rent arrears in social housing x 67
*Threatened Homelessness x 38
*Financial Literacy x 52
*Housing Benefit x 259
Q3 statistics will be available in January 2017 Awaiting.

7 disabled young people attended an Independent Living Course to support their transition 
in to adulthood and independence in October 2016

Bridge Charity acts as a first line of contact at the Children’s Services Front Door for 
families at risk of homelessness as a result of financial difficulties

Lincolnshire’s Families Employment Advisor (DWP) supported RCC to upskill staff to help 
families into work. Two workers were identified as Specialist Points of Contact for helping 
out of work adults. An updated version of Progress to Work Pathway was devised with the 
employment advisor from Lincs. Currently 100% of those families identified as out of work, 
are being supported.

A ‘Pathway to Employment Working Group’ was established in August 2016 which aims to 
join up all partners assisting adults who are on out of work benefits, into work.

To date 43 families are being worked with under the Changing Lives programme. For 20 
families, unemployment was identified as a factor for intervention. Of the 12 claims made 3 
had related employment as a factor but it remains a factor however other issues such as 
poor school attendance were addressed. Changing Lives funding was provided to 13 
families to help them access various opportunities such as transport to clubs and groups 
for their children and to provide school uniforms or hiking kit to enable children to access 
their education and the broader curriculum. 

Children’s service has sign up to Rutland food back for families. X number accessing RFB

The RALS Work club became undersubscribed and has been cancelled. However, 
individual sessions are available at the OEP for anyone needing help to apply for work, 
including CV writing, online applications, basic IT skills. Referrals are received from 
Revenues and Benefits Dept. for families likely to be affected by benefit caps to encourage 
them to apply for work. RALS Jobsmart had a target of 200 people to train and certificate. 
This was fully achieved with a 100% success rate in terms of individuals achieving their 
qualifications. 

A Kickstart programme took place 2016 with 3 apprentices successfully employed. All 
enrolled in college and commenced employment.

52 children (on the DfE eligibility list) are entitled to apply for funding, which is 16% of the 2 
year olds registered with the Children Centre (323). 41 children are actually claiming the 
funding. Some parents report that their children are too young to access a group provision.



Job Centre Plus and National Careers Service operate monthly sessions at Oakham 
Library. Free printing and online resources is in place

The library and museum service continue to offer free or low cost activities for families to 
support literacy and numeracy. 2,891 attendees at library activity sessions and 973 
attendees at museum activity sessions in the first 2 quarters of 2016/17

The Local Council Tax Support scheme has been reviewed and no changes have been 
made.

5. Challenges

At this stage we have no young people who have been identified as SEND undertaking 
either apprenticeships or supported internships at RALSS. We are seeking to redress this 
as part of the RCC drive for apprenticeships due to commence from April 2017. (Target is 
10 for RCC and 4 for schools) for 2017/18. The Government proposes to pay £1,000 to 
employers and a further £1,000 to training providers if they train a 16-18 year old 
apprentice or if they train 19-24 year olds leaving care or who have a Local Authority 
Education and Healthcare plan. Further work is being undertaken with employers via the 
Employers Forum to garner support for this cohort.

Regarding cross border access to services: Many families living in poverty are required to 
access Job Centre plus regularly to maintain their income streams. Currently those living 
on the edge of Rutland do have the ability to use e.g. Melton Job Centre/ Corby Job 
Centre. With the full implementation of Universal Credit which is due in October 2017, 
CAR has been advised that the flexibility to use Job Centres other than Stamford will be 
lost. This will cause some severe problems to those living in say Caldecott (15 miles no 
easy bus route and approximately 4 miles to Corby) and Whissendine (17 miles and 
approximately 6.5 miles to Melton Mowbray). 



Rutland - the best place to live ….. 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

….for everyone? 
 

 

 

 

 

A Report on Poverty in Rutland  

2016 
Barbara Coulson  

BA., MA Cantab., MA Nottingham 



 

 

 



 

 1 

CONTENTS 

 
Executive Summary........................................................................................... 2 

Citizens Advice Rutland.................................................................................... 5 

Why a Rutland rural poverty report? ........................................................... 6 

IntroductiIntroductiIntroductiIntroductionononon.....................................................................................................6 

Defining PovertyDefining PovertyDefining PovertyDefining Poverty..............................................................................................7 

Rutland and Rural PovertyRutland and Rural PovertyRutland and Rural PovertyRutland and Rural Poverty..............................................................................9 

Measuring PoMeasuring PoMeasuring PoMeasuring Poverty and Deprivation in Rutlandverty and Deprivation in Rutlandverty and Deprivation in Rutlandverty and Deprivation in Rutland .......................................... 11 

The Determinants of Poverty - Income Deprivation .............................. 13 

The Determinants of Poverty - High Costs ................................................ 18 

Housing and Associated CostsHousing and Associated CostsHousing and Associated CostsHousing and Associated Costs .....................................................................18 

Fuel Costs and Fuel PovertyFuel Costs and Fuel PovertyFuel Costs and Fuel PovertyFuel Costs and Fuel Poverty..........................................................................24 

Food PovertyFood PovertyFood PovertyFood Poverty .................................................................................................29 

Transport and PovertyTransport and PovertyTransport and PovertyTransport and Poverty ..................................................................................32 

Poverty as it affects people........................................................................... 35 

Child Poverty/DeprivationChild Poverty/DeprivationChild Poverty/DeprivationChild Poverty/Deprivation ............................................................................35 

Pensioner PovertyPensioner PovertyPensioner PovertyPensioner Poverty .........................................................................................38 

Adults living with Long Term Disability and PovertyAdults living with Long Term Disability and PovertyAdults living with Long Term Disability and PovertyAdults living with Long Term Disability and Poverty....................................41 

The Future and Poverty .................................................................................. 44 

Appendices......................................................................................................... 46 

References ......................................................................................................... 53 

Bibliography....................................................................................................... 57 

 

 

 



 

 2 

Executive Summary 

    
What is poverty actually like?What is poverty actually like?What is poverty actually like?What is poverty actually like?    

Cold statistics do not readily convey how serious the situation can be for 

people experiencing poverty. 

 

Difficult decisions have to be made on a daily basis.  What will the family cut 

back on?  Food?  Heating?  Clothes for the children?  Repairing household 

items?  Transport?  Childcare costs?  The family might have to leave out 

toiletries, school trips, holidays, birthday parties, insurance, dental care, days 

out, a TV licence or even meals.  How Granny or Grandpa is going to be 

looked after brings with it the crucial question “Can I afford to leave work to 

look after them?” 

 

This report looks at statistics: 

i) as they do and don’t reveal the presence of poverty within Rutland 

ii) to help plan the future as the demographics of the County change. 

 

It also seeks to address the social care challenges of what poverty in Rutland 

looks like if Rutland is to remain the best County for everyone in which to 

live, work and play. 

 

Poverty and deprivation have several contributors: primarily low income and 

high costs; but there also are other factors.  The link between poverty and ill-

health is well established.  There is ample evidence that poverty causes ill-

health and that ill-health causes poverty.  Ill-health is expensive for society 

so the challenge is to find interventions to break the cycle, both now and in 

the future. 

 

IncomeIncomeIncomeIncome 

Work in Rutland: there is a high level of employment (79.7%), so deprivation 

appears low.  The reality looks different; work is often poorly paid, part-time 

or ‘man in a van’ type self-employment and micro businesses.  The largest 

employers are Rutland County Council, Ministry of Defence, National Health 

Service, HMP Stocken, Oakham and Uppingham Independent schools: all 

offering employment with little opportunity to boost income through 

overtime or bonus payments. 

 

Benefit payments: currently, and indeed    historically, these are minimal in 

meeting financial needs for those totally reliant on state benefits, whether 

out of work or reliant on disability or retirement benefits. In-work benefits 

such as Tax Credits indicate the crisis of poorly paid and/or part-time 



 

 3 

employment, since Tax Credits demonstrate a recognition that it is not 

possible to get by on earnings alone. The financial situation can often only 

be managed on a day to day basis and by taking on debts which exacerbate 

an already difficult situation. Debts have to be repaid….but from what? 

    

CostsCostsCostsCosts 

Difficulties of low pay and/or reliance on benefits are exacerbated by high 

unavoidable costs in Rutland  

i) Housing and its ancillary costs  

• purchase and rental costs (house prices 20% higher than the 

national figure) 

• Council Tax (the fifth highest in the country) 

• Fuel - many rural houses (especially private rented sector) being 

expensive to run (e.g. less than 50% of houses on mains gas) 

 

ii) Transport costs - cars are not a luxury, but essential to maintain 

employment and access to services.  

 

Other Factors in RutlandOther Factors in RutlandOther Factors in RutlandOther Factors in Rutland 

Access to services:  

• no Job Centre within the County; 

• no full time staffed Legal Aid solicitor with offices in the County,  

• no hospital with full accident and emergency facilities (the 

nearest is 23 miles) 

• poor public transport infrastructure. 

 

The FutureThe FutureThe FutureThe Future    
After the vote to leave the European Union the economic environment has 

been thrown into confusion. In the short-term the Pound (GBP) has fallen 

but the stock market has remained surprisingly robust.  Whether economic 

growth will cease, with the danger of recession which that brings, is much 

discussed but as yet remains unknown.  An economic downturn will affect 

the construction industry with the knock-on effect that has on house-

building and the housing market.  There is no doubt that relief of poverty is 

much harder in a poor economic climate and economic uncertainty hits the 

poor hardest. 

 

Over the next 20 years, whatever the economic situation, it is anticipated 

that the percentage of people aged over 65 years in Rutland will double; this 

means their increasingly complex health needs will require greater health 

and social care provision. 

 



 

 4 

In the current rapidly changing funding environment old certainties and 

systems are becoming outdated.  The prevention and well-being agenda 

recognises the need for a broad range of integrated services to be provided 

by Rutland County Council and other commissioning bodies. This integration 

of service provision will enable people to live independent lives longer, 

bringing both health benefits and economic savings.  

 

The best way to lift people out of poverty is through encouraging a vibrant 

economy and to do this Rutland County Council policies need to: 

• address the needs of families by supporting business, and promoting 

micro and small business enabling work to pay 

• increase the provision of fuel efficient housing in the lower quartiles of 

the housing market 

• provide the support and advice necessary to ensure full access to any 

state support to which individuals are entitled 

• provide advice and advocacy for those who run into debt trying to 

manage their money. 

 

Enabling all in Rutland to flourish brings complex challenges to Rutland 

County Council as it develops public policy.  It requires collaborative cross-

sector working within health and social care, advice and advocacy, as well as 

in planning, business support, housing, and transport policies.  

 

Future anti-poverty policies will require services which will need to:  

• be provided through Commissioners working in partnership with 

organisations within the County.  

• become demand responsive to those who need Social Care, enabling 

them to live well and independently for as long as possible.  

 

By taking action now Rutland County Council and its partners can make a 

positive difference to the health, wealth and wellbeing in the future for all in 

Rutland and maintain the enviable reputation it has for being the best place 

to live in England. 

 

 

 

 



 

 5 

Citizens Advice Rutland 
    

Aims, Principles and PolicieAims, Principles and PolicieAims, Principles and PolicieAims, Principles and Policiessss    

We aim to: 

• provide the advice people need for the problems they face 

• improve the policies and practices that affect people's lives. 

 

We provide free, confidential and impartial, and independent advice. Our 

goal is to help everyone find a way forward, whatever problem they face. 

We value diversity, promote equality and challenge discrimination. 

 

People come to us with all sorts of issues. They may have money, benefit, 

housing or employment problems. They may be facing a crisis, or just 

considering their options. 

    

HistoryHistoryHistoryHistory    
Citizens Advice Rutland has been operating out of the Oakham Office on the 

High Street since 1974 and in this time has been serving the increasingly 

complex advice needs of the people of Rutland.  Citizens Advice has a 

unique vision of the way in which both government policies and economic 

well-being affect individuals, families and households. 

 

The experience of Citizens Advice Rutland comes from the problems that 

people experience and for which they require help.  The ‘banner’ of the 

service relates to the ‘problems of the market-place’.  The considerable 

expertise, especially in the field of social welfare law, which the organisation 

has developed has arisen from the problems we have encountered and so 

has been responsive to need as we meet it, rather than directive due to 

problems as perceived by others. 

 

There have been two previous rural poverty reports produced by Citizens 

Advice Rutland; the first in 1998 (Rural Poverty in Rutland), the second in 

2008 (‘Strawberries and champagne or baked beans and tea?’) and we 

believe that it is now time to look again at the issues surrounding rural 

poverty as they relate to Rutland in the current, now uncertain economic 

circumstances of 2016.  

 

By looking at the current drivers of rural poverty and projected demographic 

changes for Rutland we should be able to plan for the future and, informed 

by today’s problems, explore ways in which the persistent drivers of rural 

poverty can be met and at least minimised. 



 

 6 

Why a Rutland rural poverty report? 

    

IntroductionIntroductionIntroductionIntroduction    

 

“Poverty is not simply about not having enough money or going without 

luxuries. It is about struggling to get through each day. About constantly 

making sacrifices. About living in a state of worry verging on perpetual fear. 

About never knowing how you will survive the week. About never having a 

few days away, let alone a holiday. It is about your children being haunted by 

the prospect of being stigmatised, humiliated and bullied. About pensioners 

not knowing how they can carry on living, yet dreading imposing a burden 

on relatives when they die. Of course there are a few people whose 

fecklessness is responsible for the paucity of their existence. But most of 

those in poverty cannot help being in their situation. No one chooses to be 

poor.”  (Reporting poverty in the UK: A practical guide for journalists 2009, 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation ( JRF) 1) 

 

This report looks at what we mean by poverty today within Rutland and how 

the social care agenda contributes to the health and well-being of the whole 

community. 

 

Community cohesion is promoted and sustained by achieving a dynamic 

balance between a safe societysafe societysafe societysafe society, characterised by careful regulation and 

effective policing, and a socially just societysocially just societysocially just societysocially just society in which those who are excluded 

from full participation are recognised and enabled to flourish so that they 

can participate to their full ability.  

 

A community at ease with itself is one where “there is a common vision, a 

sense of belonging by all communities and where the diversity of people’s 

backgrounds is appreciated and valued; those from different backgrounds 

have similar life opportunities, and strong and positive relationships are 

being developed between people from different backgrounds in the 

workplace, in schools and within neighbourhoods.’”  (Dept. for Children, 

Schools and Families/CLG 2007)2 

 

Poverty in all it forms demands our full attention; responding to the needs 

of the impoverished and giving all a sense of belonging is as important to a 

flourishing community as is the need for law and order to keep our society 

safe. 

 

 



 

 7 

DefiDefiDefiDefiningningningning    PovertyPovertyPovertyPoverty    

As time has passed the language used to describe the problems of poverty 

has changed. When we talk about poverty in the UK today we rarely mean 

malnutrition or the levels of squalor of previous centuries or even the 

hardships of the 1930s before the advent of the welfare state.  20 years ago 

the major determinant of rural poverty was described in terms of income 

only, but poverty is a relative concept.  ‘Poor’ people are those who are 

considerably worse off than the majority of the population – a level of 

deprivation heavily out of line with the general living standards enjoyed by 

the majority of the population in one of the most affluent countries in the 

world. 

 

 

 
 

 

Poverty can be defined and measured in various ways.  

The most commonly used approach is relative income poverty, relative income poverty, relative income poverty, relative income poverty, where each 

household’s income, adjusted for family size, is compared to median 

income. (The median is the “middle” income: half of people have more than 

the median and half have less.) Those with less than 60 per cent of median 

income are classified as poor.  This ‘poverty line’ is the agreed international 

measure used throughout the European Union and yet is itself arbitrary in 

the sense that there is no exact calculation that this is a threshold of 



 

 8 

minimum income acceptable to society. (Joseph Rowntree Foundation: What 

is meant by Poverty, 2009 3) 

 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation ( JRF) calculates the income sufficient to 

allow people to enjoy a minimum socially acceptable standard of living. They 

have described this as the Minimum Income Standard for Britain and it is 

based on what members of the public thought people need to achieve a 

socially acceptable standard of living (see Appendix 1).  The Minimum 

Income Standard was established in 2008 and has been updated annually to 

reflect changes to the cost of living and to living standards.4  

 

Professor Peter Townsend, a leading authority on UK poverty, defines 

relative poverty as when someone’s “resources are so seriously below those 

commanded by the average individual or family that they are, in effect, 

excluded from ordinary living patterns, customs and activities”. 

(Reporting poverty in the UK, a practical guide for journalists 2009, p15 1). 

 

It should be recognised that while low income is a major measure of poverty, 

it is only one indicator of poverty; there are other wider issues to be 

included such as access to decent housing, sustainable employment, 

adequate health care, community amenities and social networks, and assets, 

i.e. what people own. 

 

The local economy is served best by people who are able to flourish; poverty 

diminishes people and demeans communities, it drains public finance 

hampering economic growth (A UK without poverty, 14 Sep 2014, JRF) 5. 

 



 

 9 

Rutland and Rural PovertyRutland and Rural PovertyRutland and Rural PovertyRutland and Rural Poverty    

Rutland is classed in the 2011 Rural-Urban Classification for Local Authority 

Districts in England as mainly rural, i.e. a Rural 80 area. This means that of 

the population 80% or more live in rural areas or rural related hub towns 

(DEFRA: Statistical Digest of Rural England, March 2016) 6.  

See also Appendix 3. 

 

 

 
 

 

Rutland is characteristic of rural areas and offers many residents a good 

quality of life and is regularly and consistently voted as one of the happiest/ 

best places to live in Britain (Halifax survey ‘Want to Escape to the Country? 

Try Rutland, Britain's best rural area for quality of life’) 7.  BBC News reported 

in 2012 that Rutland was the "happiest county" in the mainland UK in 2012 

according to Office for National Statistics (ONS) happiness ratings. 

 

That many people are attracted to live in this area is of course gratifying and 

to be welcomed; the top class recreational facilities, its proximity to London 

and its low crime rate are all aspects which attract people who want to live 

the country lifestyle. 

 

These pampering possibilities offered by Rutland, however, obscure the 

reality for others for whom choice of location is not a reality in the same 

way.  There are people who experience real hardship and isolation within 



 

 10 

these pleasant rural communities. Since the numbers are small and 

scattered it is a problem of poverty which is much more invisible than in 

urban communities.  

 

The beautiful countryside and undoubted affluence within Rutland must not 

be allowed to mask the fact that as ACRE (Action with Communities in Rural 

England) once famously reported “you can’t eat the scenery” - the problems 

of rural poverty are real and impact on the whole population. 

 

It is a sobering thought that 16% of rural households fell into the official 

poverty definition in 2012/3 (DEFRA: Statistical Digest of Rural England, 

March 2016 6).  Rural poverty is a serious issue. Isolation is perhaps the most 

serious, with limited – and often declining – public transport services, on 

which they are reliant for shopping: retail services in rural areas are also 

declining.  

 

Housing is a particular problem for the rural poor.  A higher percentage of 

tenants have exercised the right to buy their homes than in urban areas, and 

the supply has been further affected by the growth in the number of ‘second 

homes’ owned by town and city dwellers.  Wages are also generally lower in 

the countryside.  Poverty and deprivation adversely affect the local 

population’s health and well being. 

 



 

 11 

Measuring Poverty and Deprivation in RutlandMeasuring Poverty and Deprivation in RutlandMeasuring Poverty and Deprivation in RutlandMeasuring Poverty and Deprivation in Rutland    

Statistical analysis of poverty and deprivation is based on the Index of 

Multiple Deprivation (IMD): see Appendix 2.  

 

The measures used to quantify both the level and density of poverty are 

statistical and generally, though not exclusively, from Census data. 

Useful statistical figures appropriate for Rutland can be hard to locate and 

may produce aberrant results due to the small population.  

 

The Rutland County Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ( JSNA) 2015 

acknowledges this and in the section on ‘Caveats re Data’  identifies the need 

for care with statistical interpretation, due to the presence of  

• Indicators with no data 

• Indicators based on Rate per Thousand and 

• Confidence intervals    

(Rutland County Council, JSNA overview 2015, p32) 8 

 

At times the statistical results can appear contrary and sometimes even 

contradictory. Where locally based practitioners in a field see statistical 

results that are at odds with what they see in practice, any proposed action 

based on statistical data needs further research before action plans are 

decided. 

 

There are also instances where the results themselves are contradictory. 

Rutland County Council’s JSNA 2015, p6 8 uses Census data for deprivation 

figures and they identify the two most deprived areas in Rutland as being 

Uppingham and Oakham North West.  The map image used is from Public 

Health England and dated June 2015, and this identifies the two most 

deprived areas as Martinsthorpe ward and Oakham North West. The latest 

data from the department of communities and local government, however, 

shows that the most deprived ward (out of 23 in Rutland) to be Greetham  

Lower-layer Super Output Area (LSOA) (amongst the 50% most deprived 

neighbourhoods in the country) and the least deprived to be Langham LSOA 

(amongst the 10% least deprived neighbourhoods in the country): see 

Appendix 2 screenshot 9.  The fact that Langham and Whissendine are in the 

least deprived centiles makes interesting reading when compared with the 

data for Child Poverty (see later pp.35 et seq.).  

 

Local knowledge is perhaps a more useful measure. 

 

These are all indicators of the difficulty of using statistical analyses 

appropriate to large urban populations where the living reality may be very 



 

 12 

different for a rural population which is small and scattered. Figures from 

even the best statistics may be unable to illustrate what living in poverty is 

really like. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

This report will illustrate some of these statistics of deprivation by examples 

of what the issues look like on a day to day basis as they come through the 

door of Citizens Advice Rutland; the people behind the statistics.  

 

The case studies we use to illustrate this have to be made anonymous due 

to the all too easy identification of individuals in this very small county, but 

they are all derived from actual clients advised and supported.    

    

    



 

 13 

The Determinants of Poverty - Income Deprivation    
Public Health England has ranked Rutland first in the 10 best performing 

Local Authorities districts for levels of deprivation over the last three years.  

 

Rutland has been rated the second least deprived Upper Tier Local Authority 

in the country in 2010. It is tempting from this to suggest that it is the second 

most affluent Upper Tier Local Authority, but this is a leap of faith which is 

not possible, since the statistics only measure deprivation, not affluence. 

 

Rutland County Council however recognises that this apparently rosy picture 

hides deprivation which affects individuals throughout the County. It is 

certainly the experience of Citizens Advice Rutland that among our clients 

there are many for whom low income combined with high costs and often a 

raft of other disabling factors make life in Rutland a lot less rosy than the 

statistics imply. 

 

Income deprivation can manifest itself through lack of income from 

• Employment, e.g. 

o low wages,  

o part-time employment and  

• Reliance on state benefits.  

 

Work IncomeWork IncomeWork IncomeWork Income    

Rutland has high rates of employment. Rutland County Council’s Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment 2015 ( JSNA) identifies that data for 2014 

indicates that 79.7% of the population were employed. This is a figure to be 

applauded and yet these figures must be interpreted with care, since 

Rutland reflects the characteristic profile of employment in rural areas 

where earnings are low, many are in low paid or part time work or poorly 

paying self-employment, and these issues are not measured in the indices of 

deprivation.  

 

Government figures show that rural earnings in Rural 80 areas (e.g. Rutland) 

remain persistently the lowest10.  The differentials in earnings between Rural 

80 areas (predominantly rural) and predominantly urban areas are 

graphically illustrated by the chart below. 



 

 14 

 
Chart from Dept. for Environment & Rural Affairs (DEFRA): Statistical digest of Rural England 

March 2016 6 

 

Office for National Statistics provisional figures for 2015 show that in 

Rutland the workplace average earnings are £388 p/wk, compared with the 

East Midlands average of approx. £475 p/wk and £528 p/wk nationally 11. 

 

As earnings increase so state benefits, designed to support the poorly paid, 

reduce at an astonishingly rapid rate. The replacement of National Minimum 

Wage by the National Living Wage for the over 25’s is welcome, currently 

£7.20 per hour rising to around £9 per hour by 2020. This does not by itself 

solve the problems of earnings poverty, rural or urban, but this projection 

has the target of the total wage reaching 60% of median earnings by 2020 

(Dept. for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy policy paper: National Living 

Wage 12: in other words, at least bringing incomes up to the official poverty 

level. 

 

It is not known what knock-on effect the introduction of the National Living 

wage will have; we can only wait to see.  Will it have the effect of increasing 

almost all wages as differentials get eroded by the increase at the bottom 

end, or will it have the effect of employers reducing employees’ hours so 

that their wage bill remains steady?  

 

Low income workers may be supported through the Tax Credit system, but 

as income increases these reduce and will be affected further by the 2015 

budget cuts to Tax Credits.  They were roundly condemned and not 

implemented immediately, and may yet turn out only to have been 

postponed until 2017.  



 

 15 

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

Becky    has lived with chronic difficulties over a long period. Due to a 

relationship breakdown and mental health issues arising from this, Becky 

left her Housing Association property to live temporarily with her 

Grandmother, as her ex-partner was moving back in to look after their 

two children. She claimed disability benefits. After a few months of living 

with her Grandmother she had to move out – the only hostel 

accommodation was in Leicester (a strange and distant place to her) 

which was inappropriate for Becky, so she ended up sofa-surfing with 

various members of her family.  

 

She approached Citizens Advice Rutland for help with stabilising her 

situation and to see if she could get her children back. We worked closely 

with Rutland County Council to find her suitable and affordable 

accommodation. To improve her situation and to try to stand on her own 

two feet she got a part time job (the only one on offer) in a local 

supermarket which brought in just over £115 per week. As the work 

involved differing weekly shift patterns she was unable to get another job 

to make up her hours to full time. 

 

Becky wanted a 2 bed property so that her children could visit her and 

stay overnight on occasions but even though she was entitled to full 

Housing Benefit she would have to pay £40 per week towards her rent 

due to the bedroom tax. In addition she would have to pay 25% of her 

Council tax. The sums just were not going to add up. Becky could not 

afford (or be considered for) a 2 bed property.  

 

She may well have been allocated a 2 bed property if she was working full 

time and the employment was sustainable, enabling her to prove that the 

property was affordable. With the lack of full time positions available and 

Becky’s mental health problems it was impossible for her to secure a 

property so that her children could visit and stay with her overnight. 

 

Citizens Advice Rutland advises many clients in low paid part-time 

employment, or poorly paying self-employment often based at home. This 

work profile is often to fit in with family and caring requirements. Statistics 

show, unsurprisingly, that there are a far higher proportion of people in 

villages and hamlets who work from home (see graph overleaf). Home-

working is very much more possible through the development of the 

internet. The far-sightedness of Rutland County Council in pushing the 



 

 16 

introduction of super-fast broadband throughout the County has been a 

most welcome initiative which has enabled people who might otherwise 

have struggled to be economically active.  

 

 
Chart from Dept. for Environment & Rural Affairs (DEFRA): Statistical digest of Rural England 

March 2016 6 

    

Benefit IncomeBenefit IncomeBenefit IncomeBenefit Income    

For most people the main source of income, other than earnings, is likely to 

be welfare benefits - the ‘safety net’ for those not working or in low-paid 

work. The latest Rutland County Council’s Key Statistical Datasets give a 

break down of Benefit profiles across Rutland 13.  At Citizens Advice Rutland 

we find that over 40% of enquiries now concern help with Benefits and Tax 

Credits. 

 

Comparing the income of an out of work jobseeker/Employment and 

Support Allowance (ESA) claimant to a person with median earnings makes 

sobering reading.  A single jobseeker/ESA recipient can expect an annual 

income of £8,946 compared with the median earnings (Rutland) of £20,176 

gross, £16,881 net and nationally £30,264 (gross), £23,741 (net). The Poverty 

level measure of 60% of median earnings is £14,211 (see Appendix 6). 

 

It is no wonder that debt is a feature of life if an individual is reliant on out-

of-work benefits.  

 

Currently Benefits are administered by three governmental organisations: 

 

The Local Authority administersThe Local Authority administersThe Local Authority administersThe Local Authority administers:  

• Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction, which support low income 

individuals and families with their housing costs. 



 

 17 

Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) administersDepartment of Work and Pensions (DWP) administersDepartment of Work and Pensions (DWP) administersDepartment of Work and Pensions (DWP) administers:  

• main out of work benefit, Job Seekers Allowance  

• sickness and disability benefits, the most well known of which are 

Employment and Support Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Personal 

Independence Payments and Attendance Allowance  

• retirement benefits, e.g. State Retirement Pension along with the top-up 

possibility of Pension Credit. 

 

 Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) administersHer Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) administersHer Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) administersHer Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) administers:  

• Tax Credit support system for children and low-income employed 

claimants 

• Child Benefit. 

 

In an attempt to simplify the benefits system the government is currently 

struggling to introduce a completely new benefit system called Universal 

Credit. This will put the majority of means-tested benefits administration 

under the DWP. Universal Credit will merge out-of-work benefits and in-work 

support. This means that people will no longer have to take a risk in moving 

from one system to another (Universal Credit: Welfare that works, DWP 

November 2010, Cm7957 14) with the problems and delays this brings as a 

result of changing benefits. 

 

Introduction of this new benefit has been fraught with difficulties and in 

Rutland it is currently only operational for all new claims for single, out-of-

work claimants reliant solely on means-tested benefits. Currently we do not 

know when this will be broadened and it is clear that while the government 

claimed in 2010 that there would be no losers, the reality is that this is not 

the case. There will be those who gain, there will also be others will lose.  

 

In a 2011 press release, the DWP claimed that 12 million benefits claimants 

would be claiming universal credit by 2017. This year (2016) the Commons 

public accounts committee has said the project will not be finished until 

2021, and it was disappointed by the persistent lack of clarity and evasive 

responses by the Department (House of Commons, Committee of Public 

Accounts: Universal Credit: progress update, Nineteenth Report of Session 

2015–16 15 ).  

 



 

 18 

The Determinants of Poverty - High Costs 
    

Housing and Associated CostsHousing and Associated CostsHousing and Associated CostsHousing and Associated Costs     

It is recognised by Rutland County Council that housing affordability and 

access to housing is a major issue for Rutland that affects household 

disposable income considerably. 

 

In addition to direct housing costs, Council Tax is also one of the highest in 

the country. The Telegraph on Sunday, 10th April 2016, rated Rutland as the 

fifth highest council tax in the country quoting Band D as £1710 (2015/6), 

whereas Westminster is quoted at £674 (see Appendix 5).  

 

A high Council Tax can cause difficulty in paying, which often results in 

increasing indebtedness when residents become liable for and have to pay 

additional recovery costs. 

 

House PricesHouse PricesHouse PricesHouse Prices    

House prices in Rutland are high. The Rutland County Council Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment 2015 quotes figures from CLG Table 583, 10/06/15 

showing that the lower quartile house price was 20% higher than the 

England figure. This creates a real barrier to housing for those on low 

incomes and often particularly affects young people looking to live and work 

in Rutland. 

 

Affordable housingAffordable housingAffordable housingAffordable housing    

In an area of high housing costs such as Rutland, the building of affordable 

housing is of great importance since it is one way of supporting low income 

households in the provision of housing, whether through purchase, shared 

equity schemes, or rental. It can also provide a way in which it is possible, 

especially for young people, to get a foot on the housing ladder. 



 

 19 

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

Suresh and his wife Sarah came to Citizens Advice Rutland to see if there 

was any help available for them. They are both working full-time in Rutland, 

one in catering and the other in the care sector. They have two young 

children and have recently bought a house in a small village. At £209,000 it 

was cheap by village standards, but very expensive for a first-time buyer. 

They had to really stretch themselves to get a mortgage, and were helped 

by Sarah’s parents to pay the deposit.  

 

The whole family love the freedom and space they have, but the costs make 

life difficult. They can only afford one small car and the conflicting demands 

of school runs and shift times, combined with the lack of public transport, 

makes life one long juggle. The mortgage payments they have to make are 

40% of their net income and their transport costs have certainly proved 

higher than they anticipated. 

 

Citizens Advice Rutland looked with them at the possibility of claiming 

Working Tax Credits and Child Tax Credits but their income was too high for 

any help there. It was the same for any financial help towards Council Tax. 

Last week Sarah went to the Doctor as she had felt a lump on her breast 

and now she has been referred to Leicester Royal Infirmary for further 

investigations…. she is very anxious about the future, should she have to 

give up work. Citizens Advice Rutland looked at possible benefits they could 

claim if her fears are realised and with the high mortgage they are paying, 

the impact on the family income would be catastrophic - would they have 

to move back to Leicester where prices are lower? 

 

The phrase affordable housing is often bandied about loosely, being seen 

just as low cost market housing, whereas it has a specific meaning within the 

National Planning Policy (See Appendix 6)16.  It is not low cost market 

housing since it has the benefit of government support to subsidise the 

house price or rental cost.  

 

Sufficient affordable housing provides the chance for low income 

households to be resident within, and so contribute to, the Rutland 

community both through spending as well as earning. Open market housing 

prices means that many who would like to live and contribute within Rutland 

are unable to do so and have to move away to a cheaper area. 

 



 

 20 

Currently Rutland County Council’s target for affordable homes is 40 homes 

per year.  

 

Owner OccupationOwner OccupationOwner OccupationOwner Occupation    

In common with many rural areas, developers in Rutland seek to build 

houses for the upper income ranges; such small affluent developments are 

characteristic of village developments.  

 

Government has recently exempted small developments from planning 

agreements that require developers to include some affordable housing. 

Sites with less than 5 homes have no need to include any element of 

affordable housing; those with 6 to 10 homes need only make a financial 

contribution towards affordable housing at other sites. (Rural Services 

Network Manifesto 2015-2020, p1017 ); this is likely to have the effect of 

decimating affordable housing provision within villages, since inevitably 

most sites in villages are small. 

 

 Added to this planning exemption, the national trend of high house prices in 

rural areas, the proximity of Rutland to London and its being seen as a 

desirable place to live, continues to push up house prices and accentuates 

the barriers to housing for low and middle income people and families. 

 

The Rightmove website (03/04/2016) quotes the following figures: 

• The majority of sales in East Midlands during the last year were  

o detached properties, selling for an average price of £262,277 

o semi-detached properties sold for an average of £154,368  

o terraced properties fetching £131,326.  

• The majority of sales in Rutland during the last year were  

o detached properties, selling for an average price of £366,690 

o semi-detached properties fetching £218,812 

o terraced properties sold for an average of £195,367. 

 

The implications of these prices for low and middle income households is 

clear and if a balance of housing is to be achieved there needs to be some 

change of government policy in the provision of affordable housing.    

    

In Rutland the ratio of house prices to earnings demonstrates the large 

amount of earnings that has to be spent on housing costs (see chart 

overleaf).    

    

    



 

 21 

Ratio of Median House Price to Median Earnings

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Rutland England

%

    
RRRRatio of Median House Price to Median Earnings: 1997atio of Median House Price to Median Earnings: 1997atio of Median House Price to Median Earnings: 1997atio of Median House Price to Median Earnings: 1997----2013 2013 2013 2013 (Rutland Key 

statistical data Feb. 2016). Source: January 2016 - Gov.uk - Live tables on 

housing market and house process, 2014    

    

    

Rental MarketRental MarketRental MarketRental Market 

As in the house purchasing market, the affordability of rental properties also 

provides a major barrier to many in Rutland. 

 

All social/affordable rental properties within Rutland are now owned and 

managed by several Housing Associations. Spire Homes is the main provider, 

with c. 1500 properties, and 10 other Housing Associations owning and 

managing a further 320 properties. 

 

The private rented sector is a less regulated sector the size of which is 

unclear, but in Rutland it is likely to be similar to that in other rural areas. 

Research published by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation in 1995 (The Supply 

of Privately rented housing, 1995 Crook T., Hughes J., Kemp P) found that the 

private rented sector was larger in rural areas than in urban areas with 

about one in seven households in rural areas living in privately rented 

accommodation compared to one in eleven households in urban areas.  

 

The level of rents in this sector is not regulated in the way in which the social 

housing sector is; rents are governed purely by market forces. With housing 

in Rutland being expensive this makes renting in the private sector an 

expensive option, resulting in rents taking up a large chunk of household 

income (see chart overleaf).  



 

 22 

Median Monthly Rents for all Categories of PrivateMedian Monthly Rents for all Categories of PrivateMedian Monthly Rents for all Categories of PrivateMedian Monthly Rents for all Categories of Private----Rented Property: Rented Property: Rented Property: Rented Property: 

01/04/201401/04/201401/04/201401/04/2014----31/03/15 31/03/15 31/03/15 31/03/15 (Rutland Key statistical data Feb. 2016) 

Source: January 2016 - Gov.uk - Private Rental Market Statistics May 2015 

 

Median Monthly Rental - Private Rental Property

460

480

500

520

540

560

580

600

620

640

Rutland East Midlands England

£
/m

th

 
 

Adding to the problems caused by the high cost of housing in Rutland are 

the restrictions on supporting housing costs for low income claimants. 

 

Generally home owners with mortgages cannot get any assistance towards 

their housing costs until 39 weeks have passed since they became entitled 

(for new claimants of working age) and once entitled there are restrictions 

on the amount of mortgage interest covered and is only available to those in 

receipt of some means-tested benefits.  

 

In the rental sector, help is instantaneous once entitled, but again there are 

restrictions: 

• Private Rented Sector: rental levels on which benefit calculations are based 

are restricted by what is called the Local Housing Allowance. This is often 

set at a level less than the full contractual rent 

• Social Housing Sector: the unpopular so-called Bedroom Tax has a similar 

effect in restricting Housing Benefit payable to claimants but in a different 

way. This occurs where the property has more bedrooms than regulations 

deem necessary for the size of the household. Where this is the case 

Housing Benefit is restricted by : 

° 14% where there is one bedroom too many and 



 

 23 

° 25% where there are two or more bedrooms more than regulations 

deem necessary.  

 

Where the ‘bedroom tax’ or the Local Housing Allowance restricts the 

amount of help towards rent there is a much greater chance of claimants 

falling into rent arrears. The Local Authority has the power in some cases to 

make a discretionary housing payment (DHP) to cover some or the entire 

shortfall for a period. There is a need to strengthen and increase the level of 

DHPs due to welfare reform changes which will adversely affect provision of 

Housing Benefits in the next two years. 

 

High housing costs generally: 

• lead people to agree to a rent which is unaffordable or  

• cause people to find the rent unaffordable when a household’s 

circumstances have changed for the worse, through relationship 

breakdown, disability, redundancy, birth, bereavement or other 

unavoidable reason. 

 

In these circumstances the build up of rent arrears becomes inevitable, 

leading to a real risk of losing the home through the repossession and 

eviction process. Use of these procedures is expensive and often leads to 

expensive solutions being required from Local Authorities. Homelessness 

benefits no-one. 

 

The build up of rent arrears with the consequences this produces is 

particularly acute where there is nothing smaller or cheaper to move to in 

the locality. This is especially the case where households have children 

settled in schools or elderly relatives for whom they care, or other family 

connections where there are very real pressures to stay locally. 

 

High housing costs, characteristic of Rutland, do nothing to help the plight of 

the homeless, or those living on a low income. 



 

 24 

 

 

    

    

Fuel Costs and Fuel PovertyFuel Costs and Fuel PovertyFuel Costs and Fuel PovertyFuel Costs and Fuel Poverty     

    

Fuel poverty is a problem everywhere but it is particularly prevalent in rural 

areas, due to the high number of stone-built, solid wall properties and 

households who are not on mains gas. (Age UK: Reducing fuel poverty – a 

scourge for older people 18) 

 

The depth of fuel poverty in rural areas is far greater than for urban 

households. The Rural Services Network in their Manifesto for 2015-2020 17 

quotes that on average the fuel poverty gap - or the extra income a 

household needs to move out of fuel poverty - is over £800 in rural areas 

compared with £332 in urban areas. 

    

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

Darryl lives in a 2 bedroom housing association property. His rent was fully 

covered by Housing Benefit when he moved in 5 years ago but the 

introduction of the under-occupancy regulations means that now he has to 

find £12.37 per week towards the rent. He has two children from a previous 

relationship, who visit regularly but do not live with him. He is unable to 

work through ill-health and is reliant on disability benefits. Moving is 

particularly difficult as there is a lack of both cheaper properties and those 

with only one bedroom in the area. 

 

Given the lack of alternative accommodation - both in the private sector 

and in social housing - the client has no option but to remain where he is 

and pay the shortfall, which was not budgeted for when the tenancy was 

first taken on. He received a discretionary Housing Payment from the Local 

Authority which initially funded the shortfall, but does so no longer. 

 

His debts are increasing as he ekes out his disability benefits to fund his day 

to day living and pay for his children when they stay. He has just managed 

to stay clear of the payday loan sharks, but he is not sure for how much 

longer. He is determined to keep in the house as long as possible since he is 

desperate to maintain a strong relationship with his children, which would 

be very difficult if he was in one-bedroomed accommodation. 

 



 

 25 

 

The Energy Act 2013, changes the definition of fuel poverty in England and it 

is now measured through the Low Income High Costs definition; a 

household is considered to be in fuel poverty if: 

 

• they have required fuel costs that are above average (the national median 

level) 

• were they to spend that amount they would be left with a residual income 

below the official poverty line, i.e. less than 60% of median income (see 

above). 

(Department of Energy and Climate Change Annual Fuel Poverty statistics 

report 2015 19) 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

There are three key drivers behind fuel poverty: 

• Household income 

• The energy efficiency of the property (and therefore, the energy required 

to heat and power the home) 

• The cost of energy. 

     

    



 

 26 

What does rural fuel poverty look like in RutlandWhat does rural fuel poverty look like in RutlandWhat does rural fuel poverty look like in RutlandWhat does rural fuel poverty look like in Rutland????    

    

Case StudCase StudCase StudCase Studyyyy    

Peggy, a widow in her eighties rang Citizens Advice Rutland one day in 

January as her daughter had felt she needed some help after her last fall. A 

home visit was set up as Peggy couldn’t really get out by herself at all and 

was even having difficulty getting around the house. Our adviser went to 

her isolated house which was owned by the local landowner and the 

upshot was that we helped her claim Attendance Allowance at the highest 

rate (£82.30 per week). This brought in £4326 pa.  

 

On hearing of her success Peggy was ‘over the moon’ and rang Citizens 

Advice Rutland again to check that this wasn’t too much. She said “Oh how 

wonderful I can’t believe it, I’ll be able to turn the heating on now”. On 

hearing that she was also going to get another £61.85per week (£3216 pa) 

because of the up-rating of other benefits as a result of her successful 

claim for Attendance Allowance, Peggy was overjoyed - “Stan (her late 

husband) would be so pleased; he was always worried that I wouldn’t be 

able to afford to live here after he’d gone - the house is so cold and 

draughty but now I can be warm and I do so love living here. I feel I can now 

stay at home, because I can also afford some help in addition to all that my 

daughter does for me - Thank you so much”. 

 

In 2012, the percentage of households in Rutland experiencing fuel poverty 

was 11.9%, which is worse than the average for England which stands at 

10.4% (Rutland County Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015, 

4.2.3)8. 

 

Rutland County Council recognises the threat cold or damp homes can pose 

to adults at risk, through depression, stroke, heart disease and pneumonia. 

These can contribute to excess winter deaths in the elderly and that same 

threat can also affect the health and educational attainment of children. 

(Rutland County Council: Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 HECA 

Progress report March 2015, pp. 3-5) 20.  As fuel costs rise, fuel poverty is an 

increasing challenge for rural communities. 

 

Rural properties are often comparatively large, old and poorly insulated. 

These are therefore expensive to heat and this becomes an especial 

problem where these costs are exacerbated by low income and limited 

choice for energy supplies, with many properties not being on mains gas.  

 



 

 27 

Rutland County Council has already put into place an extensive action plan 

to reduce fuel poverty as identified in the HECA Progress Report March 2015, 

but currently issues of fuel poverty continue to blight too many Rutland 

households. 

 

At Citizens Advice Rutland it is our experience that fuel poverty pushes 

consumers, particularly the elderly, either to not turn on their heating during 

cold weather, and/or fall into fuel arrears.  

 

Where arrears build up, fuel providers generally require consumers to install 

expensive to use prepayment meters in order to maintain their fuel supply.  

 

Prepayment MetersPrepayment MetersPrepayment MetersPrepayment Meters    

Prepayment meters are expensive because: 

• the unit price of the energy is expensive  

• the cheapest tariffs offered by suppliers are usually not made available to 

prepayment customers 

• switching supplier or to a cheaper tariff is often not possible where the 

consumer is in arrears.  

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

23rd December, with Citizens Advice Rutland closing at 1pm, George came 

in to the office. We had had a really cold snap and he had run out of money 

and couldn’t top up his electric meter; he hadn’t had any hot water, light or 

cooking facility for a week, surviving with some of his mother’s candles by 

way of light. Was there any emergency credit he could get, expensive as 

that may be? Citizens Advice Rutland contacted his supplier and after a long 

negotiation an arrangement was made for some credit to be put on his 

card. This required the co-operation of the garage he used to make his top-

up payments. Armed with written instructions for the garage he went up 

there; but returned 10 minutes before closing time as the garage had been 

unable to help. A staff member then went up with the client to the garage 

and together finally he achieved some credit on his card to get him through 

Christmas.  

 

The nostalgic and romantic Dickensian visions of Christmas as a time of 

Bacchanalian plenty were not the stuff of George’s Christmas; more the 

Dickensian description of poverty, debt, cold and loneliness were George’s 

Christmas. 



 

 28 

The effect of this is to increase fuel costs, pushing people further into Fuel 

Poverty. If the prepayment meter has to be updated manually with price 

changes extra problems often arise due to delays in getting this done. 

  

 

Smart Meters Smart Meters Smart Meters Smart Meters     

The introduction of new Smart meters to replace the old pre-payment 

meters has been much championed in the fight against fuel poverty. The 

rollout began in April 2016, but it must be remembered that the driver for 

the introduction of the Smart meter is not primarily to reduce fuel costs or 

to alleviate fuel poverty.  

 

The European Union asked all member governments to look at smart meters 

as part of measures to upgrade our energy supply and tackle climate 

change. After an initial study, the British government decided to adopt smart 

meters as part of their plan to update our ageing energy system. The 

government wants energy suppliers to install smart meters in every home in 

England, Wales and Scotland. 

 

Smart Energy GB is the organisation running the national campaign for the 

rollout of smart meters. Their website states “While our job is to spread the 

message to everyone, we have a particular duty to make sure low-income, 

vulnerable and prepay customers benefit from smart meters”.  

 

Others are less certain about the benefits: 

 

Which?, the consumers research organization, voices concerns:  

• Estimated cost: Estimated at £11bn, this will ultimately be passed on to 

customers as the installation costs will be included in your energy bill 

• Security & privacy: Who can see your consumption data and what can they 

do with it? 

• Health concerns about radio frequencies and electro-magnetic radiations 

produced.  (http://www.which.co.uk/energy/creating-an-energy-saving-

home/guides/smart-meters-explained/what-is-a-smart-meter/) 

  

As the roll-out will cost so much, Which?  thinks the government needs to 

put in place tighter controls to ensure that suppliers pass on all their cost 

savings to their customers and that customers aren't left out of pocket if 

costs spiral. They also think there are several ways in which the roll-out cost 

could be reduced.  

 

Smart meters will utilise wireless technology; this gives cause for concern in 



 

 29 

areas where there is poor connectivity, a particular problem in some rural 

areas despite the work that Rutland County Council has done in establishing 

super-fast broadband in Rutland. 

 

Food PovertyFood PovertyFood PovertyFood Poverty    

    

A decade ago food banks hardly existed in the UK. They are a recent 

phenomenon, and while the first in England was started in 2004 their 

presence accelerated after the financial and banking crisis of 2008.  

 

The food bank movement is very largely a Christian project through the 

Trussell Trust where churches felt the call to answer the gospel imperative  

 

“…for I was hungry and you gave me food… “Truly I tell you, just as you did it 

to one of the least of these who are members of my family, you did it to me.” 

(Matthew 25:35,40).  

 

The movement was originally envisaged as short term measure during a 

time of economic crisis, but has endured and is in danger of becoming 

another mainstream strategy which people living in poverty can claim.  

 

In 2015 Cambridge and District Citizens Advice did an in-depth study of food 

bank usage (Cambridge & District CAB – Profiles of foodbank claimants 

2014/15  21).  The deprivation profiles of Cambridge and District and Rutland 

are not dissimilar in that it is an area of affluence in which poverty and 

deprivation exists but is hidden. 

 

In this study they found that the characteristics of voucher claimants were 

that: 

• Most were single people, living alone (60%) 

• There were more men than women (54% were men) 

• They tended to be around 41 years-old (the median and mode) 

• Most identified themselves as ‘White-British’ (64%) 

• Thirty percent (30%) of main claimants were in families with children 

• Most (51%) had health issues, and these tended to be mental health issues 

• 78% were of working age but out of work 

 

The main crises that caused people to ask for a voucher were: 

• Debt 

• Sickness 

• Benefit delays 

• Benefit changes 



 

 30 

• Homelessness 

• Low income 

Reasons for Food Bank Vouchers

21%

21%

33%

9%

10%
6%

Debt

Sickness

Benefit
delays/changes

Homelessness

Low income/delayed
wages

other

 
 

(N.B. A claimant could record more than one reason for needing a voucher) 

 

The study also found that out of all the possible referring organisations and 

District Council Departments, Citizens Advice Cambridge issued the most 

food bank vouchers.  

 

The Rutland Foodbank opened for business in 2013 with part-time 

distribution centres in Oakham and Uppingham. They provide three-day 

emergency food supplies for people in crisis, all the food having been 

donated by individuals and several of the local supermarkets.  

 

Their annual statistics for 2015/6 show that the three main reasons for a 

food bank application have been 

 

• benefit delays 

• low income 

• benefit changes 

 

 

The analysis of family types of food bank voucher claimants is shown 

overleaf: 



 

 31 

Analysis of Family Types

47%

10%

20%

17%

6%

Single
Couple

Single Parent
Family
Other

 
 

 

As in the Cambridge study, of all the referral agencies Citizens Advice 

Rutland and the Local Authority were the largest provider of food vouchers  

 

While the categories and data collection are not standardized, it is clear to 

see that there is a large amount of similarity between the datasets for 

Cambridge and Rutland. 

 

A national in-depth review of food banks took place in 2014. This was a 

collaboration between The Child Poverty Action Group, Church of England, 

Oxfam GB and The Trussell Trust: ‘For emergency use only: Understanding 

and reducing the use of food banks in the UK’ 22.  

 

In their recommendations they make the points that: 

 

“Crucially, the immediate income crisis which precipitated food bank use was 

often outside of an individual’s control – rather it resulted from a failure of 

income which they did not instigate, or the effects of which they were unable 

to reverse.” 

 

“The experiences of the food bank users in this study reveal important 

truths about the impact of problems with our benefit system on some of the 

most vulnerable people in our society. The very real challenges faced by 

these people are too often being compounded – rather than assisted – by 

their experience of the benefit system and by policy choices regarding the 

support offered to people who are out of work or who cannot work.” 

 



 

 32 

“Food banks, whilst providing a vital and welcoming lifeline to many, should 

not become a readily accepted part of that formal provision.” 

 

Citizens Advice Rutland also identifies anecdotally the prevalence of mental 

health issues affecting many of the single people, usually male, referred for 

food bank vouchers.  

 

Where clients find the need to approach a food bank, a distressing and 

humiliating situation, the welcome they receive is a crucial part of the 

recognition that their situation is not of their own making, and they are not 

to blame. 

 

The challenge, as identified in the review, remains to ensure that food banks 

do not become seen as a part of the formal provision of the benefit ‘safety 

net’ for those claimants. Food banks may not be the best way of building 

self-reliance in 21st century Britain. 

 

    

Transport and PovertyTransport and PovertyTransport and PovertyTransport and Poverty    

    

Effective transport systems are key to access employment, which is the 

major way in which people are able to escape endemic poverty and build 

better communities.  

 

Since the majority of Rutland residents live outside the primary and 

secondary towns in isolated communities which are not well served by 

public transport this creates a problem for those attempting to access 

employment and particularly shift work. The ability to overcome these 

difficulties and enable Rutland businesses to recruit local people to these 

jobs will provide a major boost to Rutland’s economy. 

 

The rural nature of Rutland demands the need for a high level of car 

ownership in order to access work and all other community services, 

whether health, educational, justice, Local Authority or social.  For this 

reason the level of car ownership in Rutland is high. Rather than being a 

measure of affluence in Rutland it is a measure of need and produces yet 

another drain on household income. 

 

Census 2011 figures show that Rutland has a total of 15,002 households and 

a count of 22,542 cars/vans in the Area and a population density of 

1.0 person per hectare. This is a ratio of 1.5 cars/vans per household, and 

this rises to 1.8 cars/vans per household in the most sparsely populated 



 

 33 

ward of Braunston and Belton (population density 0.3 persons per hectare). 

In contrast, in Oakham North West, where the population density is 

4.2 persons per hectare car/van availability drops to 1.2 cars/vans per 

household. Car ownership tends to become higher as the population density 

decreases since the need of cars becomes pressing where both population 

and public transport is sparse and services distant. 

 

Rutland County Council’s public transport plan has looked at transport need 

across the county and takes into account not only the need to maintain and 

support a thriving economy and access to services, but also needs to 

consider leisure, tourism, safety and environmental protection.  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

There is a recognition that to help people access work and employment 

Rutland County Council needs to 

• maintain and develop good transport links to ensure our towns are 

integrated and embedded into the wider community. There is often limited 

access by bus to centres of employment and there is limited or non 

existent public transport provision to our most rural communities. 

According to the Rutland County Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 

Cottesmore, the largest village in Rutland, has only seven buses a day 

between Cottesmore and Oakham, while there are several villages which 

have no access to a regular bus service at all, e.g. Lyndon, Ridlington and 

Brooke. 

• strengthen demand-responsive services, such as the Call Connect service 

which provides an ‘on demand’ bus service where the route is determined 

by bookings made by passengers, and the initiatives with Voluntary Action 

Rutland (VAR) to extend their services. 

• connect our rural villages better to enable greater access to employment 

and services 



 

 34 

• enable the people in Rutland who work nights or shift patterns, for whom 

it is currently very difficult to commute to and from work by public 

transport out of hours. 

• ensure new housing and developments are located appropriately to give 

access to local support services. 

 

If these challenges can be met then the working environment within Rutland 

will be made greatly more accessible. 

 

Currently the transport plan intends:  

• to continue to work with the ‘wheels to work’ scheme, which provides 

transport solutions to young people aged 16 – 24 who experience difficulty 

in accessing training, employment and/or educational opportunities due to 

a lack of suitable public or private transport. Expansion of this scheme to 

cover the whole county and embed it firmly in the transport policy would 

be very positive 

• to work in partnership with businesses to reduce the need for people to 

travel for work; this ties in with the experience of the high number of 

home-workers in the most isolated areas  

• to improve bus, taxi and rail interchanges in the short to medium term and 

aspire to a new interchange in the longer term 

• to work through the Local Development Framework to reduce the need for 

people to travel by improving coverage of broadband in the County. This 

will give people the opportunity of running businesses from their home 

and enable employers to allow staff to work from home. 

 

The work that Rutland County Council has done shows that in rural areas the 

reality of car ownership is not a sign of affluence.  Rather it is a necessity if 

people are to remain in employment, even if poorly paid, and to access 

other community services. 

 

    



 

 35 

Poverty as it affects people 
 

Poverty caused and/or increased by the factors discussed above adversely 

affects all on low incomes within Rutland, but there are also groups of 

people for whom financial poverty is just one of the factors which determine 

whether they flourish, and which affects not only their health and well-being, 

but also the health and wellbeing of the whole community.  

 

We will look specifically at: 

• Child and Family Poverty 

• Pensioner Poverty 

• Adults living with Long Term Disability and Poverty 

 

ChildChildChildChild and Family and Family and Family and Family Poverty Poverty Poverty Poverty        

 

Indicators for Child and Family poverty are related to: income, housing and 

educational attainment, and the challenge that society faces is to prevent 

poor children becoming poor adults by tackling these root causes of poverty.  

 

Poverty has a profound effect on the life chances of children and young 

people. It can deepen and reinforce social exclusion, contributing to 

problems in education, employment, physical and mental health and social 

interaction. Tackling child poverty benefits the community as a whole as well 

as the children and families affected. 

 

The key factors are:  

• providing work for parents that pays; i.e. being able to work enough hours 

and being paid enough.  

• raising the educational attainment of poor children; essential to enable the 

next generation to break the cycle of poor children becoming poor adults 

and families. 

• breaking the cycle of debt, addiction and relationship breakdown through 

early intervention to establish a stable, loving family environment, giving 

children the best chance of success themselves. 

 

In Rutland, the wards showing the highest percentage of children living 

within the official definition of living in poverty are illustrated on the next 

page.  

 

There are currently 6 wards where levels of child poverty are over 10%; 

however due to varying population sizes in these wards, the actual number 

of children affected needs to be taken into account: for instance while there 



 

 36 

are 100 in Uppingham, there are only 30 each in Langham and Whissendine. 

It is considered that there is likely to be a correlation between the 

percentage of those children living in poverty and the number of people 

claiming benefits in each area 23.  

  

 
 

With the small numbers involved, the ‘Caveats re data’ discussed on p9 must 

hang over these datasets, so that any actions taken to address these matters 

need to take account of these small cohort sizes, with solutions appropriate 

to each ward. Local knowledge of the problems will be key in delivering 

suitable solutions.  

 

To achieve changes in outcomes for children’s lives, it is essential for all 

agencies involved with improving health and wellbeing to work together with 

the whole family to lift the family unit out of poverty. 

 

Citizens Advice Rutland is the only independent advice organisation which 

provides high quality, accredited advice, assistance and advocacy to families 



 

 37 

where children are living in poverty. Citizens Advice Rutland addresses the 

whole family's problems, generally, though not exclusively, through: 

    

• benefit advice and advocacybenefit advice and advocacybenefit advice and advocacybenefit advice and advocacy, by ensuring that the family is receiving all the 

benefits to which they are entitled and where necessary helping with the 

claims procedures and assisting with any appeals against refusals of 

benefit 

• debt advice and advocacydebt advice and advocacydebt advice and advocacydebt advice and advocacy where families have debt problems, whether 

they are in danger of becoming homeless, or struggling with bailiffs as a 

result of having difficulties in maintaining Council Tax payments or paying 

for fuel to prevent disconnection 

• housing advice and advocacyhousing advice and advocacyhousing advice and advocacyhousing advice and advocacy where there are situations of impending 

homelessness and rent arrears 

• employment advice and advocacyemployment advice and advocacyemployment advice and advocacyemployment advice and advocacy where the family may be suffering loss 

of earnings, because of a number of possible reasons 

• relationship advice and advocacyrelationship advice and advocacyrelationship advice and advocacyrelationship advice and advocacy where income may have dropped and 

debts increased due to relationship breakdown 

• Special ESpecial ESpecial ESpecial Educational Needsducational Needsducational Needsducational Needs    & Disabilities& Disabilities& Disabilities& Disabilities: Citizens Advice Rutland hosts the 

Rutland Information, Advice and Support Service (RIASS), which provides 

advice to children, young people and to their parents and carers about 

special educational needs, disability, health and social care. 

 

Falling into persistent and often spiralling debt is how income deprivation 

manifests itself in the lives of families and there is clear evidence of how 

debt adversely affects young children’s lives.  

 

Children, especially in their early years, are deeply affected by experiencing 

debt within the family and especially debt collection practices, for example 

the loss of property through bailiff action. The Children’s Society (The Wolf at 

the door: How Council Tax debt collection is harming children March 2015, 

The Children’s Society 24) reports in their research into the effect of Council 

Tax collection practices that: 

 

“Over half of families in Council Tax debt have borrowed money to 

pay their bill” 

  

“Children in families in council tax debt are 50% more likely to suffer 

depression than those who have not faced Council Tax debt”  

 

“Two thirds of parents said they believed their children had been 

frightened, sad or worried as a result of a bailiff visit.” 

 



 

 38 

There appear to be no publicly available statistics kept on the number of 

bailiffs instructions made in relation to Council Tax collection in Rutland, so 

how Rutland performs in this area is hard to establish. 

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

Gemma came into Citizens Advice Rutland anxious that she had received a 

notice from the Bailiffs, Bristow and Sutor, who were collecting a large 

Council Tax Debt accrued over several years. Working part-time (22 hours 

per week) on the national minimum wage (£7.20 p/hr) and getting Tax 

Credits and Housing Benefit and some Council Tax Reduction, she and her 

11 year old son Gareth just about manage to get by … if you don’t count the 

bank loan and turn a blind eye to council tax payments which she just 

hasn’t been able keep up. The notice says that they will take away goods 

from the house - is there anything she can do? She just recently bought 

Gareth an i-Pad as he is about to move to secondary school and will need it 

for his homework; he’s a bright lad and she really wants him to get on. She 

can’t bear the thought of losing that because she can’t afford to replace it. 

 

Citizens Advice Rutland immediately contacted Rutland County Council and 

after some discussion they agreed to hold the bailiffs for a week providing 

they received both a financial statement and a realistic offer of repayment 

that would both get the debt paid off and be sustainable. Gemma returned 

to Citizens Advice Rutland with full details of her finances and a Financial 

Statement was produced and an offer of £50 p/month was agreed between 

Gemma and Rutland County Council so the bailiff action was halted and 

Gemma was in a better position to stabilise her finances. 

 

Nonetheless, Citizens Advice Rutland advised Gemma that if she were really 

unable to maintain the repayments, and if she knew that Bailiffs were 

coming, she should arrange for Gareth to go and play with friends, that she 

did not have to let Bristow and Sutor enter the premises, and so she should 

make sure all windows and doors were shut and locked. 

 

    

Pensioner PovertyPensioner PovertyPensioner PovertyPensioner Poverty    

 

Rutland, in common with many rural areas has a high percentage of people 

over the age of 65, with ONS statistics showing that life expectancy for men 

is 80.4 (2007-09) and 83.7 (2007-09) for women25.  This compares favourably 

with both the East Midlands (78.1 and 82.1) and England (78.3 and 82.3).  As 

people in Rutland are living longer, there are more older people living with 



 

 39 

increasing frailty and this brings a challenge as to how to provide for their 

support and care needs. 

 

Pensioners are much more likely than those of working age to be on 

incomes which do not keep up with the rise in the cost of living, other than 

through the annual up-rating in benefits such as State Retirement Pension. 

Income from private pensions is generally either fixed or dependent on the 

stock market and so subject to often unpredictable change. 

 

The harsh reality of low income in later life is that 1 in 6 pensioners (1.8 

million or 16% of pensioners in the UK) live in poverty, (when defined as 60% 

of median income after housing costs). Low income in retirement is often 

linked to earlier low pay, or time out of employment - for example, due to 

caring responsibilities, disability or unemployment. 

 

The numbers of people living on low income fell between 1997/98 and 

2004/5; but since then there has been little improvement (Living on a low 

income in later life - Age UK 26). 

 
Many pensioners cope because of their extreme resourcefulness and 

determination not to get into debt – something they are proud of - but many 

are anxious about the cost of care they need now or may need in the near 

future. 

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

Jennifer’s mother, Agnes, had lived in a private rented home for all her life, 

because it went with her husband’s job. It had always been a cold house, 

but they’d paid no rent which meant that his wages could be stretched so 

much further (or that was how she felt). After her husband died, Agnes 

deteriorated and was becoming very ‘tottery’. Jennifer realised that her 

mother needed to move into some form of rented sheltered 

accommodation.  

 

Agnes was really worried about affording it, having never paid rent in all 

her married live. A full benefits check showed that she was entitled to 

Attendance Allowance, and a raft of other means-tested benefits she hadn’t 

known about. This meant that she could afford to move into sheltered 

accommodation and pay the rent, since it was all met by Housing Benefit.  

 

A few months after the upheaval of her move (the first in over 50 years) she 

was settled in and couldn’t believe the improvement to her life. She was at 



 

 40 

last warm and comfortable and there were other people around. After 

some years she is now housebound and very frail, but very content that her 

needs have been met. She is truly grateful for the help she didn’t know 

existed, but which has transformed her life. Jennifer is very happy too, 

knowing that her mother is warm and safe.  

 

Means tested benefits such as Pension Credit can make an important 

difference, but many people do not claim because: 

• they are not aware they are entitled  

• they are put off by the process or  

• they are reluctant to ask for help. 

 

Rising fuel prices are also a huge source of anxiety and fuel poverty has 

major health impacts on the elderly. Professor Hills in his 2012 report, 

Getting the measure of fuel poverty, for the Department of Energy and 

Climate Change (DECC)27 noted that ‘there is a body of persuasive evidence 

that links low temperatures with a number of health impacts, ranging from 

minor infections to serious medical conditions that can ultimately prove 

fatal’. The nature and effects of fuel poverty have been discussed above 

(pp. 26-28). The Winter Fuel Payment makes a significant contribution to 

pensioners’ bills and is essential to protect their health and well being. 

 
Where income deprivation and fuel poverty combine with people isolated by 

living in sparsely populated areas, a characteristic of Rutland, the difficulties 

of living independently are increased. This is where there is very limited 

public transport, and no easy access to local services such as doctor’s 

surgery, post office or library. 

 

The challenge of being able to live a good quality of life and so delaying and 

reducing the need for care and support is important. Institutional care is a 

very expensive option not only for the individual but also for Rutland County 

Council if they become responsible for paying Care Home Fees. Institutional 

care is seldom desired - remaining in one’s own home for as long as possible 

is usually the preferred option. Community based care packages are an 

essential part of both saving money and improving the health and well-

being of elderly pensioners.  

 

    



 

 41 

Adults livAdults livAdults livAdults living with ing with ing with ing with Long Term Disability and PovertyLong Term Disability and PovertyLong Term Disability and PovertyLong Term Disability and Poverty    

 

Younger and older people are now living longer with serious and increasingly 

complex disabilities. These may be physical and/or mental health issues and 

the drive towards community care which, if poorly resourced, can easily 

leave these groups isolated and in poverty, unable to access the support 

they need to live independently in the community. Where they are reliant 

solely on State benefits for income, meeting their care needs with enough 

and appropriate help becomes a challenge that can be very difficult to meet 

due to the high costs of care provision.  

 

Physical disability, while debilitating, can be assessed and its impact is more 

readily known and measurable. While this does not in itself take away the 

difficulties of living with disability, it is more likely that an individual will be 

able to access all the help available.  

 

For those with mental health issues and learning difficulties, their ability to 

express themselves in ways which enable them to access the appropriate 

state support and financial assistance is much harder. This is also a group 

who have difficulty in dealing with authority or accessing help, as 

governments become ever more dependant on impersonalised e-systems 

for their interaction with the public.  

 

It is only since the mid-1990s that the Internet has had its revolutionary 

impact on culture and commerce, through the rise of near-instant 

communication by email, instant messaging, Skype etc. The government has 

been enthusiastic in its desire to use such cheap and instant technology as a 

means of delivering welfare benefit and other services. 

 

Using government e-systems is often beyond those with mental health 

issues and learning difficulties. Benefit claims are increasingly being made 

online (e.g. Job Seekers Allowance/Universal Credit) and an application 

requires a degree of both computer skills and self-confidence. For those 

who have literacy problems the barriers to accessing entitlement can prove 

insurmountable without support and help. 

 

Working age clients with learning disabilities and/or mental health issues, 

often appear to use modern technology with ease, but in reality usage is 

often very restricted. Use of mobile phones on expensive pay-as-you-go 

tariffs is the norm. It is easy to run out of credit and mobile telephones are 

frequently lost, making contact difficult as telephone numbers are frequently 

changed. 



 

 42 

Inaccessibility increases for older people who have not been brought up 

with computers, email and internet. While many have taken, with aplomb, to 

the internet and all it enables, a person now in their 70’s (not very old by 

today’s life expectancy range) was brought up without computers and many 

may well not have used current communication systems during their 

working lives. This inevitably impacts on their ability to engage with 

government in all its forms in today’s electronically biased world. 

 

Statistics on internet and e-government usage for Rutland are hard to find. 

Citizens Advice Rutland finds, anecdotally, clients requiring increased 

assistance with e-government issues such as benefit claims on line (a main 

source of their income), and using the government gateway 28  (an online 

account which lets you use many national and local on line services securely 

and safely, e.g. Tax Credits issues, Pension forecast). This is especially the 

case with our clients with learning difficulties and those who are elderly. For 

the elderly lack of computer hardware negates internet access despite the 

enhanced broadband provision. Rural isolation, characteristic of Rutland a 

Rural 80 area, exacerbates these problems since public libraries are the 

major source of internet access.  

 

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

Roger 72, needed to download a Power of Attorney form. He owns a 

computer at home which his son always helped him with; but since his son 

moved to London for work Roger now has no-one to help him.   

 

He is very embarrassed about his situation and getting increasingly 

frustrated that he cannot do these things himself, as so much today 

requires computer literacy. He said that he and his wife had both worked 

all their lives and had never needed to use a computer. He went on a 

computer course once but felt really stupid compared with the others so 

gave up and decided to rely on his son instead. 

 

For all those who find it a battle to find their way through government’s 

current administrations systems and who lack negotiation skills, poverty, 

homelessness and debt are constant wolves at their doors. These are the 

forgotten and voiceless members of society, who need others to mediate 

and fight on their behalf. For society to be at ease with itself there is a 

pressing need that the needs and aspirations of the voiceless are not only 

heard but responded to, so that Rutland becomes a County which is socially 

just. 



 

 43 

 

Case StudyCase StudyCase StudyCase Study    

John’s life has always been chaotic; characterised by being in and out of 

work; mostly out of work, living in passing relationships or alone. He has a 

Housing Association flat, but rent and council tax arrears dog him. Alcohol 

and drugs are also ever-present in his life, as are various short stays in 

prison. He nonetheless attempts to ‘put his house in order’, but finds 

himself unable to talk with ‘authority’ effectively as he usually loses his 

temper.  

 

For this reason John is a regular client of Citizens Advice Rutland as he 

desperately needs an independent voice to articulate his problems and 

initiate necessary contact with the statutory authorities since he has very 

poor negotiating skills and is unable to use a computer. He finds it difficult 

to remember appointments, so he is a hard-to-help client. However, this 

makes the ongoing help provided by Citizens Advice Rutland vital, whether 

it is to maintain his benefits payments, challenging benefit sanctions, or 

trying to help him avoid eviction from his house. Homelessness benefits 

no-one. 

 

John is a member of society just as much as anyone else; he has multiple 

problems and if Rutland is to remain a good place to live then his problems 

are just as worthy of help as anybody else’s. 

 

Surviving long term on a benefit-only income without incurring debts is 

near impossible even for someone with good budgeting skills; for someone 

without those abilities it is an impossible mountain to even start climbing. 

With the ever-increasing demands that society makes on the use of 

technology for its citizens, John’s needs deserve hearing. 

 

 



 

 44 

The Future and Poverty 

 
To look at Rutland’s poverty and deprivation today can seem contrary when 

there are so many indices showing minimal deprivation and maximum 

security, which all contribute to its being consistently voted as the best or 

one of the best rural locations to live in England. Answering the needs of 

those who nonetheless live in poverty and deprivation not only addresses 

inequality it also helps build community cohesion, and a better future.  

 

What might Rutland look like in 20 years timeWhat might Rutland look like in 20 years timeWhat might Rutland look like in 20 years timeWhat might Rutland look like in 20 years time? ? ? ?     

With the recent vote to leave the European Union the economic future is, by 

common consensus, uncertain. Whether or not it proves beneficial to the 

economic well-being of the United Kingdom; there will be impacts on 

funding for social care, health and well-being. During periods of economic 

uncertainty the challenges and decisions facing the providers will require a 

new level of co-operation and collaboration to fund properly the needs of 

their rural poor. 

  

Another major issue regarding the result of the referendum is what will 

happen to immigration. Currently in Rutland many of the poorly paid jobs, 

for instance in the care sector, are performed by people who have come to 

work in England from abroad. How recruitment in these sectors will be 

affected by changing immigration rules is unknown, but is likely to make not 

only recruitment but also retention of staff harder. Provision of services may 

therefore become more expensive. 

 

The future growth of the military bases will change the demographics of 

Rutland with the predicted arrival of 2000 military personnel by 2020 29.  

While many of the social care and welfare needs of those employed in the 

Armed Forces are met within the military bases in which they live, their 

presence nonetheless affects the health and social care provision within 

Rutland. This is because they, their families and the civilian employees at 

Kendrew and St George’s barracks are now, and will become ever more, an 

increasing percentage of the Rutland economy. Continued efforts at 

engagement with the military communities are necessary so that specific 

problems related to these communities can be addressed (Rutland County 

Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 14.2) 8. 

 

The demographic time bomb, however, lies in the rapid increase in longevity 

and the near certain increase in the number of elderly residents. It is 

anticipated that over the next 20 years the percentage of people over 65 will 

double in Rutland, which means there will be more people with complex 



 

 45 

health needs requiring both health and social care. (Rutland County Council, 

The Future of Adult Social Care 30)  

 

For Rutland, the greatest projected percentage change is the 65 and over 

age range, which is predicted to double. People aged 65 and over currently 

make up a small percentage of the population but in future years over a 

third of the population will fall into this category. Around 1,700 people aged 

over 75 in Rutland were estimated to live alone in 2010 but this number is 

predicted to rise to 3,800 by 2030 (a 120% increase). Furthermore, the total 

number of people aged 65 and over who have a significant health problem is 

now predicted to double between 2010 and 2030.  

 

This will clearly impact on the provision of both health and social care 

services, especially when the high cost of housing within Rutland (which 

shows no sign of declining) drives those who provide low paid care services 

to live outside the County. 

 

Collaborative work between Rutland County Council and its partners should 

be targeted to enable people, whether young adults with long term 

disabilities or older people wishing to live in their own homes, to live 

independent and healthy lives for longer. The economic as well as social 

pressures demand this. 

 

Partnership and working agreements across sectors will reduce waste, avoid 

duplication, work efficiently and pool resources, assisting not only Rutland 

County Council but also other health and social care funders to achieve their 

goals and use tax payers’ money wisely.  

 

Cross-sector working will ensure that Rutland remains the best place in 

England to live, work and play. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 46 

Appendices 
    

Definitions used in poverty and deprivation studies: 

    

Appendix 1Appendix 1Appendix 1Appendix 1    

Joseph Rowntree Foundation Joseph Rowntree Foundation Joseph Rowntree Foundation Joseph Rowntree Foundation  

Minimum Income Standard:    

A minimum income standard, based on what people said is needed to 

achieve an acceptable standard of living in Britain today. 

    

An extension of the work on a Minimum Income Standard (MIS) for the UK, An extension of the work on a Minimum Income Standard (MIS) for the UK, An extension of the work on a Minimum Income Standard (MIS) for the UK, An extension of the work on a Minimum Income Standard (MIS) for the UK, 

exploring how needs and costs vary for rural households.exploring how needs and costs vary for rural households.exploring how needs and costs vary for rural households.exploring how needs and costs vary for rural households. 

 

The research - by Noel Smith, Abigail Davis and Donald Hirsch, Centre for 

Research in Social Policy, Loughborough University, 2010, “Key points” 

 

People in rural areas typically need to spend 10–20 per cent more on 

everyday requirements than those in urban areas. The more remote the 

area, the greater are these additional costs. 

 

The biggest difference is the greater access to public transport in urban 

areas, whereas rural households depend more on cars. Domestic fuel costs 

are also higher in some rural areas, because of older, less fuel-efficient 

housing and lack of mains gas. 

 

Single, working-age adults need to earn at least £15,600 a year in rural 

towns, £17,900 in villages and £18,600 in hamlets or remote countryside to 

reach a minimum living standard, compared with £14,400 in urban areas. 

For couples with two children, the annual earnings requirement is much 

higher, about £33,000 to £42,000, depending on whether one or both 

partners work and the remoteness of the community. 

 

Among those on basic out-of-work benefits in rural areas, single people get 

only about a third of the required minimum, families with children about a 

half, and pensioners are typically 20 per cent short of the minimum. 

 

Therefore, people in rural areas generally need to work and earn well above 

the minimum wage to make ends meet. But since many rural jobs are poorly 

paid, many people have substantially less than they need, even if they work.    



 

 47 

Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix 2222 

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)    

The Indices of Deprivation 2015 provide a set of relative measures of 

deprivation for small areas, Lower-layer Super Output Areas (LSOA) across 

England, based on seven domains of deprivation. The domains were 

combined using the following weights to produce the overall Index of 

Multiple Deprivation: 

• Income Deprivation (22.5%) 

• Employment Deprivation (22.5%) 

• Education, Skills and Training Deprivation (13.5%) 

• Health Deprivation and Disability (13.5%) 

• Crime (9.3%) 

• Barriers to Housing and Services (9.3%) 

• Living Environment Deprivation (9.3%) 

In addition to the Index of Multiple Deprivation and the seven domain 

indices, there are two supplementary indices: the Income Deprivation 

Affecting Children Index and the Income Deprivation Affecting Older People 

Index.  

The Index of Multiple Deprivation Index of Multiple Deprivation Index of Multiple Deprivation Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is an overall relative measure of 

deprivation constructed by combining seven domains of deprivation 

according to their respective weights, as described below.  

The seven domains of deprivation are as follows: 

• The Income Deprivation Income Deprivation Income Deprivation Income Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the 

population experiencing deprivation relating to low income. The 

definition of low income used includes both those people that are out-

of-work, and those that are in work but who have low earnings (and 

who satisfy the respective means tests).    
    

• The Employment DeprivationEmployment DeprivationEmployment DeprivationEmployment Deprivation Domain measures the proportion of the 

working-age population in an area involuntarily excluded from the 

labour market. This includes people who would like to work but are 

unable to do so due to unemployment, sickness or disability, or caring 

responsibilities.    

• The Education, Skills and Training DeprivationEducation, Skills and Training DeprivationEducation, Skills and Training DeprivationEducation, Skills and Training Deprivation Domain measures the 

lack of attainment and skills in the local population. The indicators fall 

into two sub-domains: one relating to children and young people and 

one relating to adult skills.  

 



 

 48 

• The Health Deprivation and DisabilityHealth Deprivation and DisabilityHealth Deprivation and DisabilityHealth Deprivation and Disability Domain measures the risk of 

premature death and the impairment of quality of life through poor 

physical or mental health. The domain measures morbidity, disability 

and premature mortality but not aspects of behaviour or environment 

that may be predictive of future health deprivation. 

 

• The CrimeCrimeCrimeCrime Domain measures the risk of personal and material 

victimisation at local level.  

 

• The Barriers to Housing and ServicesBarriers to Housing and ServicesBarriers to Housing and ServicesBarriers to Housing and Services Domain measures the physical 

and financial accessibility of housing and local services. The indicators 

fall into two sub-domains: ‘geographical barriers’, which relate to the 

physical proximity of local services, and ‘wider barriers’ which includes 

issues relating to access to housing such as affordability. 

 

• The Living EnvironmentLiving EnvironmentLiving EnvironmentLiving Environment DeprivationDeprivationDeprivationDeprivation Domain measures the quality of 

the local environment. The indicators fall into two sub-domains. The 

‘indoors’ living environment measures the quality of housing; while the 

‘outdoors’ living environment contains measures of air quality and road 

traffic accidents. 

 

The two supplementary indices: 

The Income DepIncome DepIncome DepIncome Deprivation Affecting Children Indexrivation Affecting Children Indexrivation Affecting Children Indexrivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) measures the 

proportion of all children aged 0 to 15 years living in income deprived 

families. It is a subset of the Income Deprivation Domain which measures 

the proportion of the population in an area experiencing deprivation relating 

to low income. The definition of low income used includes both those 

people that are out-of-work, and those that are in work but who have low 

earnings (and who satisfy the respective means tests). 

The Income Deprivation Affecting OldeIncome Deprivation Affecting OldeIncome Deprivation Affecting OldeIncome Deprivation Affecting Older People Indexr People Indexr People Indexr People Index (IDAOPI) measures the 

proportion of all those aged 60 or over who experience income deprivation. 

It is a subset of the Income Deprivation Domain which measures the 

proportion of the population in an area experiencing deprivation relating to 

low income. The definition of low income used includes both those people 

that are out-of-work, and those that are in work but who have low earnings 

(and who satisfy the respective means tests).    

Statistical Analyses of the IMD as well as its subsets are readily available 

from an interactive dataset found at 

http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/idmap.html.  This interactive map is 



 

 49 

part of the Open Communities mapping system and uses ONS staistics as it 

base figures. 

 

The latest data sets (2015) show that at Lower-layer Super Output Area 

(LSOA) level all wards within Rutland rank between 14,381 (Greetham ward; 

this is amongst the 50% most deprived neighbourhoods in the country) and 

31,269 (Langham ward; this is amongst the 10% least deprived 

neighbourhoods in the country) out of 32,844 LSOAs in England where 1 is 

the most deprived LSOA. (see below)  

 

Screenshots of 2015 data  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 50 

Appendix 3Appendix 3Appendix 3Appendix 3    
 

Mainly Rural: Official StatisticsMainly Rural: Official StatisticsMainly Rural: Official StatisticsMainly Rural: Official Statistics 

 

The Rural Urban Classification 2011 defines areas forming settlements with 

populations of over 10,000 as urban, the remainder as rural. The number of 

Local Authorities that are now classed as rural has reduced compared with 

the 2001 classification. When applying the classification for statistical 

purposes it is important to note that a Local Authority that is classed as 

urban will contain rural areas and vice versa. Interim results identifying rural 

hub towns to be used in the 2011 Local Authority Classification were 

published separately in May 2014. 

 

Rural 80 definition: 2011 Rural Urban Classification of Local Authorities : 

Mainly Rural Population : ≥80% rural including hub towns, within the larger 

classification of Predominantly Rural 31. Rutland is classified as a Rural 80 

area.  

 



 

 51 

Appendix 4Appendix 4Appendix 4Appendix 4    

    

Benefit Income when compared to Median earningsBenefit Income when compared to Median earningsBenefit Income when compared to Median earningsBenefit Income when compared to Median earnings    

    

Single Job seeker living in Ashwell in a Private rented property, council tax 

Band A 

 

Jobseekers Allowance/ESA (assessment)   £73.10 per week  

Housing Benefit (Local Housing Allowance)  £86.30 per week  

Council Tax Reduction (£878.457 pa)    £12.64 per week 

TotalTotalTotalTotal Benefit Benefit Benefit Benefit Income : £172.04 Income : £172.04 Income : £172.04 Income : £172.04 per week ( per week ( per week ( per week (£8946£8946£8946£8946....08080808 pa) pa) pa) pa)        

 

CTR calculation 

Council Tax Band A (Ashwell) £1171.29 pa  

single person discount at 25% £292.82 pa 

Max CTR at 75% of liability - £658.85 pa – £12.64 per week 

 

MediaMediaMediaMedian earnings conversion Gross to Nn earnings conversion Gross to Nn earnings conversion Gross to Nn earnings conversion Gross to Netetetet        

(Conversion using – Quick Benefits calculator 2016/17) 

Rutland  

Median gross earnings £388 per week  

less tax at £35.40 per week and  

less National insurance at £27.96 per week  

Median net earningsMedian net earningsMedian net earningsMedian net earnings £32 £32 £32 £324.64 per week (4.64 per week (4.64 per week (4.64 per week (£168£168£168£16881 pa)81 pa)81 pa)81 pa)    

 

Nationally 

Median gross Earnings £582 per week  

less tax at £74.20 per week 

less National Insurance at £51.24 per week 

Median net earningsMedian net earningsMedian net earningsMedian net earnings    £456.56 per week (£23741 pa)£456.56 per week (£23741 pa)£456.56 per week (£23741 pa)£456.56 per week (£23741 pa)    

 

 

Appendix 5Appendix 5Appendix 5Appendix 5    

    

The Council Tax rate for Band D in all Rutland wards is above £1700 p.a. - in 

the highest statistical range for Council Tax levels set by Local Authorities in 

England 2016-17. The average Band D for England is £1530 and even for the 

highest group, the shire areas the average is £1601 (+£54 over last year) 32.  

    

    

    

    



 

 52 

    

Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix 6666 
 

National Planning Policy Framework National Planning Policy Framework National Planning Policy Framework National Planning Policy Framework ---- Affordable Housing Affordable Housing Affordable Housing Affordable Housing    15 

 

Annex 2: Glossary    

AffordaAffordaAffordaAffordable housing: ble housing: ble housing: ble housing: Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate 

housing, provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the 

market.  

 

Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. 

Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable 

price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for 

alternative affordable housing provision. 

 

Social rented housing is owned by local authorities and private registered 

providers (as defined in section 80 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 

2008), for which guideline target rents are determined through the national 

rent regime. It may also be owned by other persons and provided under 

equivalent rental arrangements to the above, as agreed with the local 

authority or with the Homes and Communities Agency. 

 

Affordable rented housing is let by local authorities or private registered 

providers of social housing to households who are eligible for social rented 

housing. Affordable Rent is subject to rent controls that require a rent of no 

more than 80% of the local market rent (including service charges, where 

applicable). 

 

Intermediate housing is homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above 

social rent, but below market levels subject to the criteria in the Affordable 

Housing definition above. These can include shared equity (shared 

ownership and equity loans), other low cost homes for sale and 

intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing. 

 

Homes that do not meet the above definition of affordable housing, such as 

“low cost market” housing, may not be considered as affordable housing for 

planning purposes. 

 

 



 

 53 

References 
 

1. Reporting poverty in the UK: A practical guide for journalists 2009 

(http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/reporting-poverty-uk-practical-guide-

journalists) 

 

2. DCSF/CLG (2007) Guidance on the Duty to Promote Community Cohesion. 

London: Department for Children, Schools and Families, p10. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/181542/DFE-RR033.pdf) 

 

3. Joseph Rowntree Foundation : What is meant by Poverty 2009 

https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/poverty-

definitions.pdf 

 

4. Joseph Rowntree Foundation: A minimum income standard for Britain: 

what people think 

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-britain-what-

people-think  

Joseph Rowntree Foundation: A minimum income standard for Britain in 

2009 

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-britain-2009 

 

5. A UK without poverty, 14 Sep 2014, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/uk-without-poverty 

 

6. Dept. for Environment & Rural Affairs (DEFRA): Statistical digest of Rural 

England March 2016 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/512292/Statistical_Digest_of_Rural_England_March_2016_edition_31mar

16.pdf 

 

7. Halifax survey ‘Want to Escape to the Country? Try Rutland, Britain's best 

rural area for quality of life’ 

http://www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/Media/Press-

Releases/2015/halifax/want-to-escape-to-the-country-try-rutland-britains-

best-rural-area-for-quality-of-life/ 

 

8. Rutland County Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ( JSNA) 2015 

http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Joint%20Strategic%20Needs%20

Assessment%20Overview%202015%20v1.2.pdf 

 



 

 54 

9. Indices of Deprivation 2015 Explorer 

http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/idmap.html 

 

10. Government earnings data 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/288977/Earnings_March_2014.pdf  

 

11. Earnings data 

http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/HTMLDocs/dvc126/ 

http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earning

sandworkinghours/bulletins/annualsurveyofhoursandearnings/2015provisio

nalresults#average-earnings 

 

12. Dept. for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy policy paper: National 

Living Wage 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-living-wage-

nlw/national-living-wage-nlw 

 

13. Rutland Key Statistical Data 2016 

http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Key%20Statistical%20Data%20Re

port%20Jan%202016.pdf 

 

14. Universal Credit: Welfare that works, DWP November 2010 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/48897/universal-credit-full-document.pdf) 

 

15. House of Commons, Committee of Public Accounts: Universal Credit: 

progress update 

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmpubacc/6

01/601.pdf 

 

16. National Planning Policy Framework - Affordable Housing 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/6077/2116950.pdf  

 

17. Rural Services Network Manifesto 2015-2020 

http://www.rsnonline.org.uk/images/files/rsn-manifesto2015.pdf 

 

18. Age UK: Reducing fuel poverty – a scourge for older people 

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-professionals/Consumer-

issues/reducing_fuel_poverty_report.pdf?dtrk=true 

 



 

 55 

19. Department of Energy and Climate Change, Annual Fuel Poverty 

Statistics Report 2015 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/468011/Fuel_Poverty_Report_2015.pdf 

 

20. Rutland County Council (Home Energy Conservation Act 1995) HECA 

Progress report March 2015, pp. 3-5) 

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20County%20Council%20HECA%2

0Progress%20Report.pdf 

 

21. Cambridge & District CAB – Profiles of food bank claimants 2014/15 

http://www.cambridge-news.co.uk/images/localworld/ugc-

images/276453/binaries/CAB%20report.pdf     

 

22. Emergency Use Only: Understanding and reducing the use of food banks 

in the UK Jane Perry, Martin Williams, Tom Sefton and Moussa Haddad 2014 

(The Child Poverty Action Group, Church of England, Oxfam GB and The 

Trussell Trust.,) 

http://www.cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/Foodbank%20Report_web.pdf  

 

23. Tackling Child and Family Poverty in Rutland Strategy 2014-2017 

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Child%20Poverty%20Strategy%2

02014-%202017%20Final.pdf 

 

 

24. The Wolf at the Door: How Council Tax debt is harming children : Capron 

L. and Ayre D. The debt trap End the damage to children, The Children’s 

Society March 2015 

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/wolf-at-the-

door_council-tax-debt-collection-is-harming-

children_PCR027a_WolfAtTheDoor_Web.pdf 

 

25. Office for National Statistics Key Figures for Health and Care 

http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/dissemination/LeadKeyFigures.d

o?a=7&b=6275222&c=rutland&d=13&e=6&g=6384720&i=1001x1003x1004&

m=0&r=1&s=1460281876156&enc=1 

 

26. Living on a low income in later life: Hill K., Sutton K., Hirsch D., Age UK, 

2011  

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-

professionals/Research/Living_on_a_low_income_full_report.pdf?dtrk=true 

 



 

 56 

27. John Hills (2012), Getting the measure of fuel poverty: Final Report of the 

Fuel Poverty Review, London, Department of Energy and Climate Change, 

reported in Age UK report: Reducing fuel poverty – a scourge for older 

people17. http://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-

professionals/Consumer-issues/reducing_fuel_poverty_report.pdf?dtrk=true 
 

28.  Government Gateway  

https://www.gov.uk/government-gateway 

 

29. Rutland & Stamford Mercury 

http://www.stamfordmercury.co.uk/news/politics/politics-news/government-

announces-rutland-will-receive-share-of-180m-investment-as-army-brings-

more-troops-to-kendrew-barracks-and-st-george-s-barracks-1-4852233 

 

30. Rutland County Council report, The Future of Adult Social Care in 

Rutland http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/ASC%20Strategy%20Brochure.pdf 

 

31. 2011 Rural Urban Classification of Local Authorities 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2011-rural-urban-classification-of-

local-authority-and-other-higher-level-geographies-for-statistical-purposes 

 

32. Department for Communities and Local Government : Council tax levels 

set by local authorities in England 2016-17, p.8 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data

/file/512402/Council_tax_levels_set_by_local_authorities_in_England_2016-

17.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 57 

Bibliography 
 

Citizens Advice Rutland Social Poverty reports: 

i) Rural Poverty in Rutland 1998, Coulson B. 

ii) ‘Strawberries and champagne or baked beans and tea?’ October 2007 

Coulson B. 

(http://www.rutlandcab.org.uk/downloads/Rural%20isolation%20repo

rt.pdf) 

iii) Can singletons afford Rutland? 2011 Dehnel J. 

(http://www.rutlandcab.org.uk/downloads/Can%20Singletons%20Affo

rd%20Rutland.pdf) 

iv) Catch 22 in Rutland : a report on problems caused by the closure of 

the only Jobcentre in Rutland 2008 Dehnel J. 

(http://www.rutlandcab.org.uk/downloads/Catch%2022%20Report%2

0-%20JobCentre%20closure.pdf) 

v) The Micawber Principle: a report on the recession in Rutland April 

2009 Dehnel J. 

(http://www.rutlandcab.org.uk/downloads/Recession%20Report%20-

%20The%20Micawber%20Principle.pdf) 

 

Community Cohesion in Crisis? New dimensions of Diversity and Difference 

Flint J., Robinson D., 2008 

 

A summary of austerity in the East Midlands and a case study of Derby City 

Council 2014, Centre for Local Economic Strategies for TUC 

(https://www.tuc.org.uk/sites/default/files/East%20Midlands%20Final%20Re

port_1.pdf ) 

 

Rutland County Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015 

(http://www.rutland.gov.uk/health_and_social_care/rutlands_joint_strategic_

need.aspx) 

  

Rutland County Council: Rutland Key Statistical Data 2016  

http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Key%20Statistical%20Data%20Re

port%20Jan%202016.pdf 

 

Rutland County Council HECA Progress Report for Rutland 2015 

(http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20County%20Council%20HECA%20

Progress%20Report.pdf)  

 



 

 58 

HM Government Child Poverty Strategy 2014-2017 (2014) 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data

/file/324103/Child_poverty_strategy.pdf) 

 

Low Income - How it is measured in households below average income 2015 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data

/file/432843/hbai-low-income-how-is-it-measured-infographic.pdf) 

 

Rural Poverty 2015 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data

/file/428604/RuralPovertyStats_May2015.pdf) 

 

Rural England: children in low-income households 2009 

(http://www.poverty.org.uk/r16/index.shtml?2) 

 

Rural Earnings - March 2014  

(https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/rural-earnings) 

 

Labour Market Profile - Rutland 2015 

(https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157132/report.aspx) 

 

A minimum income standard for rural households 2010 

(https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-rural-households) 

 

Rutland County Council Local Transport Plan 3 Rutland’s Transport Strategy 

April 2011 to March 2016 

(http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/LTP3%20Strategy%20Final%2021.03.11.pdf)  

 

Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs Statistical Digest of 

Rural England January 2016 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data

/file/495620/Statistical_Digest_of_Rural_England_2016_January_edition.pdf) 

 

What kind of life can you live on £7.20 an hour?: Claire Bates BBC News 

magazine April 2016  

(http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-35924293) 

 

Fuel Poverty: A framework for Future Action 2013 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data

/file/211180/FuelPovFramework.pdf) 

 



 

 59 

Fuel poverty: An anatomy of a cold home: Datshiane Navanayagam BBC 

news magazine March 2016  

(http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-35834733) 

 

End Fuel Poverty Coalition visited March 2016 

(http://www.endfuelpoverty.org.uk) 

 

Which: smart meters 

http://www.which.co.uk/energy/creating-an-energy-saving-

home/guides/smart-meters-explained/what-is-a-smart-meter/ 

 

Department of Communities and Local Government English Indices of 

deprivation 2015 -  

Statistical release - main findings;  

Guidance 

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 

File 1: index of multiple deprivation 

File 2: domains of deprivation 

File 3: supplementary indices - income deprivation affecting children 

index and income deprivation affecting older people index 

File 4: subdomains of deprivation 

File 8: underlying indicators 

File 10: local authority district summaries 

English Indices of Deprivation 2015 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-

2015) 

 

Indices of Deprivation 2015 Explorer 

(http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/idmap.html) 

 

Deprivation Percentiles for Rutland County with comparisons to the East 

Midlands and England 2010  

(http://www.lsr-

online.org/static/lsr/atlas/DeprivationRutland2010/atlas.html) 

 

Universal Credit Handed Over To Iain Duncan Smith’s Successor With 65 

“Live Risk” Alan White Buzzed March 2016 

(http://www.buzzfeed.com/alanwhite/universal-credit-handed-over-to-iain-

duncan-smiths-successor?utm_term=.ypY37zyL7#.yl5J6nb26) 

 

 

 



 

 60 

Rutland County Council : Rutland Child Poverty Strategy 2014-2017 : Tackling 

Child and Family Poverty in Rutland 

(http://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Child%20Poverty%20Strategy%2

02014-%202017%20Final.pdf) 

 

The Highest - and lowest Council Tax bill: Blackmore N. The Telegraph 

October 2015 

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/personalfinance/tax/11962411/The-

highest-and-lowest-council-tax-bills.html) 

 

Definitions of general housing terms (Affordable rented Intermediate 

housing): 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/definitions-of-general-housing-terms 

 

 



 

 



 

 

Citizens Advice Rutland 

Free, confidential advice.  Whoever you are.  

 

We help people find a way forward with their problems and 

campaign on big issues when their voices need to be heard.  

We value diversity, champion equality and challenge 

discrimination and harassment. We’re here for everyone.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Opening Times: 

    

Monday 10am – 6pm 

Tuesday to Friday 10am – 4pm 

    

Advice: 01572 723494    

Office: : : : 01572 757420 

Fax: 01572 722568 

Email Advice:    www.rutlandcab.org.uk    

 

 

 

Registered Office: 

56 High Street 

Oakham 

Rutland 

LE15 6AL 

    

Registered Charity No: 1107907 

Citizens Advice Membership No: 45/D12 

Company Registration Number: 5287678 

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. FRN: 617720 

© Citizens Advice Rutland 2016 

Citizens Advice Rutland is an operating name of Rutland Citizens Advice Bureau Ltd 


	Agenda
	9 Local Safeguarding Children's Board: Business Plan
	10 Adoption Service: Annual Report
	11 Scrutiny Project: Poverty in Rutland
	Report No. 53-2017 - Appendix C Rural Poverty Report 2016


